

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2-12-2024

K-12 School Principals' Perceptions Regarding Leadership **Practices Supporting Teachers Who Experience Burnout**

Veronica Parish Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Educational Leadership Commons

Walden University

College of Education and Human Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Veronica Michelle Parish

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee
Dr. Andrea Wilson, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty
Dr. Andrew Alexson, Committee Member, Education Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2024

Abstract

K–12 School Principals' Perceptions Regarding Leadership Practices Supporting

Teachers Who Experience Burnout

by

Veronica Michelle Parish

BS, Mississippi Valley State University, 1998

MA, Delta State University, 2001

Project Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

Walden University

February 2024

Abstract

Excessive workplace stress and burnout have been persistent issues for teachers in the public school setting. The problem addressed in this project study was that K-12 school principals are inconsistently implementing leadership practices (LPs) to support teachers who experience burnout in two public school districts under study. Guided by the instructional leadership theory of Hallinger and Murphy, the purpose of this project study was to examine the perceptions of K-12 school principals regarding their implementation of LPs to support teachers who experience burnout. In this basic qualitative research design 10 K-12 principals from a local school district were purposefully selected for semistructured interviews. Interview data were analyzed using open and axial coding to identify themes. The themes revealed that the K-12 principals applied their LPs to (a) support teachers who experience burnout by providing feedback, (b) retain teachers by resolving teachers' work-related issues, (c) create a positive work environment for teachers, and (d) clearly communicate curriculum expectations to teachers. These findings reinforce the need for principals to provide support aimed at preventing and mitigating burnout among their teachers whenever possible. Thus, a position paper was developed with recommendations for K-12 school principals to apply LPs to support teachers who experience burnout. By helping K-12 school principals better understand and address the needs of teachers who experience burnout, teachers may be better prepared to teach and more likely to remain in the teaching profession, prompting positive social change over time.

K-12 School Principals' Perceptions Regarding Leadership Practices Supporting Teachers Who Experience Burnout

by

Veronica Michelle Parish

BS, Mississippi Valley State University, 1998

MA, Delta State University, 2001

Project Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

Walden University

January 2024

Dedication

I dedicate this EdD project study to my loving, caring, and supportive family. I am so thankful for my parents, Curtis and Rosie Williams, my children, Derrick Pearson, Veronese, and Peyton Parish, V. Finally, I dedicate this study to Christopher and Monic Boddy, and Phield Parish, IV.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my family for their moral support during this project study journey.

I would like to my committee, Drs Peter Kiriakidis, Jerry Collins, Andrea Wilson, and Andy Alexson for your continuous feedback, guidance, support, and encouragement throughout this project student.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	v
Section 1: The Problem	1
The Local Problem	1
Rationale	4
Definition of Terms	7
Significance of the Study	7
Research Question	9
Review of the Literature	9
Conceptual Framework	9
Review of the Broader Problem	10
Implications	21
Summary	22
Section 2: The Methodology	24
Qualitative Research Design and Approach	24
Participants	26
Data Collection	28
Data Analysis	30
Evidence of Quality	32
Credibility	33
Transferability	34
Dependability	34

Confirmability	. 35
Discrepant Cases	. 36
Data Analysis Results	36
Theme 1: K-12 School Principals Applied Their LP to Support Their	
Teachers who Experienced Burnout by Providing Feedback	. 36
Theme 2: K-12 School Principals Applied Their LP to Retain Their	
Teachers who Experienced Burnout by Resolving Teachers' Work-	
Related Issues	. 37
Theme 3: K-12 School Principals Applied Their LP to a Positive Work	
Environment to Support Their Teachers who Experienced Burnout	. 39
Theme 4: K-12 School Principals Applied Their LP to Clearly	
Communicate Curriculum Expectations to Teachers	. 40
Interpretation of the Findings	41
Theme 1	. 42
Theme 2	. 44
Theme 3	. 46
Theme 4	. 47
Project Deliverable	48
Summary	49
Section 3: The Project	50
Introduction	50
Rationale	50

Review of the Literature	54
School Principals Should Support Teachers	61
School Principals Should Create a Positive Work Environment for	
Teachers	63
School Principals Should Clearly Communicate Curriculum Expectations	64
The Teaching Profession is Stressful	65
Teacher Burnout is Linked to Self-Efficacy	65
Teaching Work-Related Issues Cause Burnout	66
Project Description	67
Needed Resources, Existing Supports, Barriers, and Solutions	67
Project Implementation and Timetable	68
Roles and Responsibilities	68
Project Evaluation Plan	69
Project Implications	69
Social Change	70
Social Change Implications	70
Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions	72
Project Strengths and Limitations	72
Recommendations for Alternative Approaches	73
Scholarship, Project Development and Evaluation, and Leadership and	
Change	73
Reflection on Importance of the Work	74

Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research	75
Conclusion	75
References	77
Appendix A: Position Paper	92
Appendix B: Interview Protocol	101
Appendix C: Reflective Survey	102

List of Tables

	Table 1. Percentages of	Teachers Leaving the Lo	ocal School Districts	6
--	-------------------------	-------------------------	-----------------------	--------------

Section 1: The Problem

The Local Problem

The teaching profession is stressful (Brunsting et al., 2022). Some teachers have left the teaching profession because it was challenging (Skaalvik, 2020). Workload stress can affect the performance of elementary school teachers (Hussain et al., 2021). Stressors in the work environment, such as emotional exhaustion, depersonalization, personal accomplishments, and other work-related issues have been shown to cause teacher burnout (Fotre, 2022; Hunter & Springer, 2022; Maric et al., 2021). Burnout syndrome is a reaction to excessive work-related stress (Bartosiewicz et al., 2022). Teachers have experienced burnout caused by emotional exhaustion (Grant & Drew, 2022).

Principals can influence teachers' stress (Meyer et al., 2022). Research has demonstrated that the leadership practices (LPs) of school principals can affect teacher burnout (Schaak, 2020; Shrestha & Bhattarai, 2022), and principals have struggled to decrease teacher burnout (Bezzina & Farrugia, 2022). Principals should support teachers who experienced burnout (Skaalvik, 2020; Sneba & Maheswari, 2020) to improve their teaching practices (Cece et al., 2022). According to Rachmawati and Suyanto (2021), principals' competencies influence teachers' work commitment. The problem under study in this project study was that K–12 school principals were inconsistently implementing LPs to support teachers who experienced burnout in two public school districts.

The teaching profession is stressful, and teacher burnout affects teaching (Brunsting et al., 2022). Workload stress affects the performance of teachers (Hunter & Springer, 2022; Hussain et al., 2021) and causes emotional exhaustion (Bartosiewicz et

al., 2022; Grant & Drew, 2022). Principals' LPs affect teacher burnout (Schaak, 2020; Shrestha & Bhattarai, 2022) because principals influence teachers' stress (Meyer et al., 2022; Rachmawati & Suyanto, 2021). Principals have struggled to decrease teacher burnout (Bezzina & Farrugia, 2022).

Teachers' burnout is an issue in schools that could be minimized through principals' support (Skaalvik, 2020). The support teachers received from school principals can depend on the principals' LPs (Shaalvik, 2020). Cece et al. (2022) and Robinson (2018) stated that principals should implement their LPs to support teachers' teaching practices. The school principal should support teachers who experienced burnout because school principals' support influences teacher burnout (Grissom et al., 2019). Moreover, school principals' support skills are characteristics of LPs (Schaak, 2020).

Work-related stress influences teacher burnout. Farmer (2020) found work-related stress to be the main cause of why teachers left the profession. Supportive principals can indirectly prevent the stress that their teachers felt (Farmer, 2020). Teachers in Farmer's study reported being required to have content knowledge of students' needs to request the necessary referrals, and as upsetting circumstances threatened the safety of students, teachers were on the frontline and these extreme expectations caused teachers to have a direct connection to the well-being of teachers. Additionally, Farmer described principal support as the measures principals implemented to make teachers' workload easier and support them to improve their instructional practices. The lack of principal support appears to play a significant role in teacher attrition (Farmer, 2020).

The setting for this project study was two public school districts located in the Southwest United States. The study site school districts comprised 102 schools with 102 K–12 principals. The sample for this study was 10 K–12 principals (two from elementary schools, Grades K-5; three from middle schools, Grades 6-8; five from high schools, Grades 9-12). According to senior school district administrators, at the study sites, K–12 school principals were inconsistently implementing LPs to support teachers who experienced burnout. According to the deputy superintendents of schools, K–12 principals at the study sites struggled to support teachers who experienced burnout.

Per a senior district administrator at one of the study site districts, teachers indicated that K–12 school principals at the study sites were inconsistently implementing LP to support teachers to remain in the teaching profession. According to a teachers' union representative for the study sites, K–12 teachers who experienced burnout similarly reported that K–12 school principals were inconsistently implementing LP to support them to remain in the schools. Historically, teachers reported the same thing. According to the Board of Education meeting minutes (the Board of Education officials for the study sites meet monthly and record their meetings), between 2015 and 2019, teachers who experienced burnout indicated that K–12 school principals inconsistently implemented LPs to support them to remain in the schools.

The superintendent of the study site schools made yearly reports to the Board of Education members about staffing placements, such as how many teachers and administrators are hired, retired, or left the school districts at the study site. The superintendent of the study site schools also compiled a staffing report yearly, and based

on the staffing reports, teachers who experienced burnout left the school districts in large numbers every academic year, with more than 45% of teachers having left since 2015. Senior district administrators, such as the superintendent of schools, associate superintendent, and deputy superintendent of schools, and Board of Education senior members met on a yearly basis to discuss staffing issues that they reported to the Board of Education members during their quarterly meetings. These senior district administrators decided in the academic year 2015 to support K–12 principals at the study sites by visiting the schools biweekly to help teachers who were experiencing burnout and found that K–12 school principals were inconsistently implementing LPs to support these teachers to remain in the teaching profession. Thus, the research problem under study was that K–12 school principals were inconsistently implementing their LPs to support teachers who experienced burnout in two public school districts located in the Southwest United States.

Rationale

Education is an evolving and stressful profession (Richards et al., 2018). It is one of the professions linked to the highest rates of stress and burnout (Brasfield et al., 2019). According to Elyashiv (2019), teachers leave the profession due to work-related stress. Bezzina and Farrugia (2022) reported that principals can help to decrease teacher burnout. Therefore, there is a need to understand how the LPs of school principals affect teacher burnout. Grissom et al. (2019) reported that principals know about teacher instructional practices, while Gui (2019) found that principals' LPs affect teacher attrition and principals should improve their LPs to support teachers' practices.

Teachers experience burnout, which is classified as behavioral, physical, and psychological, and the main factor is work-related stress (Bozkus, 2018). Sneba and Maheswari (2020) wrote there is an association between work-related stress and burnout with teachers' work performance. Skaalvik (2020) examined principals' instructional leadership and reported that emotional exhaustion was a factor for teachers' burnout. Teachers experience burnout because of work-related problems (O'Brennan et al., 2019). Bottiani et al. (2019) reported that teachers in low-income schools had higher levels of burnout and stress than their counterparts. Teacher satisfaction reduces teacher turnover (Grissom et al., 2019).

Researchers have stated that school principals need to support and help teachers to manage stress in their work (Cece et al., 2022). School administrators should understand the importance of supporting teachers (Robinson, 2018) because teachers who are supported by their principals are more than likely to remain in the teaching profession (Bezzina & Farrugia, 2022). Instructional dialogue between teachers and principals is linked to higher levels of burnout (Bezzina & Farrugia, 2022).

The study site comprises two public school districts located in the Southwest United States that serve over 10,000 students. The demographics of the study sites' students are 70% African American, 20% White, and 10% Hispanic. Additionally, the districts employ over 1,000 teachers. According to the superintendents of schools under study, teachers are leaving the school district in increasing numbers (see Table 1).

Table 1Percentages of Teachers Leaving the Local School Districts

School year	Elementary	Middle	High school
2018	11.00%	12.02%	11.00%
2019	11.30%	12.43%	11.30%
2020	11.76%	12.39%	11.76%
2021	12.55%	13.51%	12.55%
2022	13.15%	13.51%	13.15%

This project study addressed a gap in practice concerning teacher burnout and the implementation of K–12 school principals' LPs to support teachers who experience burnout. The research problem was that K–12 school principals are inconsistently implementing their LPs to support teachers who experience burnout in a public school district located in the southwest United States. To address this research problem, I gathered qualitative data via participant interviews to examine the LPs of K–12 school principals concerning teacher burnout.

The findings of this project study could lead to further research concerning ways to help K–12 school principals better implement their LPs to support teachers who experience burnout. Specifically at the study sites, the findings may help senior school district administrators to help K–12 principals to support teachers who experience burnout in the schools under study. Furthermore, the findings of this project study will be presented to K–12 school principals in the study site district so these attendees can learn new strategies to support teachers who experience burnout.

From this study, I developed a position paper for K–12 school principals to support teachers who experience burnout. The position paper may help school district

leaders with strategies to support K–12 school principals with new ways to reduce teachers' burnout. The content of the positon paper may support positive social change by helping K–12 school principals to better implement their LPs to support teachers who experience burnout to stay in the teaching profession.

Administrators need to adequately support teachers (Cece et al., 2022). Principals should improve their LPs to support teachers, and there is a need to understand how the LPs of school principals affect teacher burnout (Bezzina & Farrugia, 2022). School leaders should examine the factors of teacher burnout (Daniels et al., 2020).

I conducted this study because K-12 school principals at the study sites were inconsistently implementing LPs to support teachers who experience burnout. To address this problem, qualitative data were collected via one-on-one, semistructured interviews with 10 K-12 school principals. The purpose of this project study was to examine the perceptions of K-12 school principals regarding their implementation of LPs to support teachers who experience burnout.

Definition of Terms

School leadership: A relationship and task-oriented behavior between school principals and teachers (Daniels et al., 2020).

Teacher burnout: A gradual condition caused by work-related stress where teachers feel emotionally exhausted (Mahmood, 2020).

Significance of the Study

This project study addressed a gap in practice concerning teacher burnout and the implementation of K-12 school principals' LPs to support teachers who experience

burnout. The findings of this project study could lead to further research concerning ways to help K–12 school principals better implement their LPs to support teachers who experience burnout. This project study is significant because the findings may contribute to the existing knowledge on LPs of K–12 school principals and teachers who experience burnout. The findings of this project study have significance for district stakeholders (i.e., senior district administrators, K–12 principals, teachers who experience burnout, students, community, and researchers) because they include strategies to help K–12 school principals better implement their LPs to support teachers who experience burnout in the two public school districts under study. The findings may help senior school district administrators help K–12 principals support teachers who experience burnout at the study sites.

Helping K–12 school principals to better implement their LPs to support teachers who experience burnout in the schools under study may benefit students should they have the same teachers teaching them throughout the academic year instead of having multiple teachers who are replacing the teachers assigned to grades who may have different teaching practices. By having their assigned teachers teaching them throughout the academic year, the students may be better prepared to meet proficiency in state testing. The new findings may also be used by K–12 school principals to support teachers to remain at the schools under study. Furthermore, the findings may help K–12 school principals to know how to better support teachers who experience burnout. I developed a position paper for K–12 school principals to support teachers who experience burnout.

school principals to better implement their LPs to support teachers who experience burnout to stay in the teaching profession.

Research Question

What are the perceptions of K-12 school principals regarding the implementation of their LPs to support teachers who experience burnout?

Review of the Literature

I used Google Scholar and ProQuest to search for peer-reviewed journal articles in order to review the literature relevant to this project. The following keyword search terms were used: *instructional leadership practices*, *supporting teachers*, *experiencing burnout*, *public school district*, *perceptions of K–12 school principals*, *instructional leadership practices*, *leadership theory*, *functions engaged by the principal*, *the activities performed by the principal*, and *the procedures and practices of the school organization*. The peer-reviewed journal articles included in the literature review were published between 2018 and 2023.

Conceptual Framework

I used the instructional leadership theory of Hallinger and Murphy (1985) who hypothesized that school leaders apply the same instructional LPs to manage schools. The conceptual framework for this project study was based on the main concepts of the instructional leadership theory: (a) identifying academic goals, (b) managing school academic programs and school climate, (c) providing ongoing professional development opportunities, (d) addressing time concerns, and (e) celebrating the successes of teachers and students. School principals engage in school functions, activities, procedures, and

practices of the school organization (Hallinger, & Murphy, 1985). The activities performed by school principals include communication with teachers, and the procedures and practices of the school organization refer to adhering to state and district policies and procedures of the school and yearly state assessments (Hallinger, & Murphy, 1985).

The instructional leadership model was expanded in the past 4 decades and has been cited in the literature that explores the instructional leadership practices of school principals (Modeste et al., 2022). According to Modeste et al. (2022), Hallinger and Murphy (1985) had school leaders as participants to identify their common instructional leadership experiences. Researchers use the instructional leadership model to find how school principals implement instructional LPs to improve student learning (Ma & Marion, 2021; Mattar, 2012). Researchers found that school principals expand their instructional LPs regarding students' academic achievement (Maestre et al., 2015) and establishing clear school goals (Karacabey et al., 2020).

I used the instructional leadership theory to understand the functions of K-12 school principals, the types of LPs applied to support teachers who experience burnout, and the procedures and practices of the school district regarding how K-12 school principals support teachers who experience burnout. I also used this conceptual framework to develop the interview questions and analyze the interview transcripts.

Review of the Broader Problem

In this literature review, I present the conceptual framework of this project study along with present studies related to K-12 school principals' implementation of their LPs to support teachers who experience burnout. I discuss literature on leadership and

teaching practices regarding teachers who experience burnout. I present literature on principals' support of teachers, how principals struggle to support teachers, teacher burnout, factors contributing to teachers' burnout, work-related stress and teachers' burnout, predictors of teacher burnout, the teaching curriculum and teacher burnout, the teaching environment and teacher burnout, principals supporting teachers, the teaching curriculum and teacher burnout, the teaching environment and teacher burnout, self-efficacy and teacher burnout, workload and teacher burnout, and teacher's job satisfaction and burnout.

Principals Support of Teachers

Teachers describe the teaching profession as stressful, and many of them experience burnout (Brunsting et al., 2022). Researchers examined the LPs of principals such as principals' support and roles, effective collective beliefs, and teacher collaboration in a school setting and found that principals' LPs create structures that facilitate teachers' work by reducing burnout (Grissom et al., 2019). Specifically, Grissom et al. (2019) studied the quality of a school's leadership and found that effective principals exhibited efficient teacher instructional practices. Semistructured interviews with principals revealed that they lacked the understanding of how to support teachers and could apply LPs to reduce teacher burnout (Grissom et al., 2019).

Researchers have suggested that principals should support teachers by providing feedback to the teachers (Cece et al., 2022). Principals should have feedback conversations with teachers (Hunter & Springer, 2022) and should support teachers because support is an indicator of teacher burnout that could be applied to decrease

teacher burnout by demonstrating concern for teachers and understanding teachers have responsibilities outside of work (Lawrence et al., 2019). Benita (2019) indicated that principal support affects teacher depersonalization, and principals should be supportive of teachers and prevent teacher depersonalization. School administrators should adequately support teachers (Pendola, 2022; Robinson, 2018). Ebersold (2019) examined how support by school principals influences positive and negative attributes of teachers' well-being having a sample of 49 high school teachers and indicated that school and district leaders need to comprehend teachers' well-being.

Researchers have examined principals' competencies on teachers' job satisfaction and work commitment (Meyer et al., 2022; Rachmawati & Suyanto, 2021). Rachmawati and Suyanto (2021) examined the effect of a principal's managerial competence on teachers' job satisfaction and work commitment having a sample of 77 randomly selected middle school principals who responded to a questionnaire. Rachmawati and Suyanto stated that work commitment significantly influenced teachers' job satisfaction, and the principal's competencies significantly influenced teachers' work commitment and job satisfaction. Meyer et al. (2022) interviewed 20 secondary school teachers and found that principals have an effect on teachers' stress.

Jensen and Solheim (2019) reported that school administrators' support plays a significant role in teacher burnout, so school administrators should be aware of the importance of supporting teachers to prevent burnout because teacher burnout affects student achievement, and school administrators should provide support to teachers who experience burnout. There is a connection between school principal support and teacher

burnout (Sliskovic et al., 2018). Sliskovic et al. (2018) investigated the connection between principal support, work-related expectations, and teacher burnout using a sample of 868 lower grade teachers and 1,057 upper grade teachers. Sliskovic et al. collected data via surveys in which participants responded to questions regarding measuring burnout, work engagement, principal support, and teacher-support rapport. Sliskovic et al. indicated that principal support determined workload and teacher burnout.

Principals Struggle to Support Teachers

Researchers reported that school principals experience difficulties in supporting teachers (Bezzina & Farrugia, 2022; Brunsting, 2022; Grissom et al., 2019). Brunsting indicated that school districts should support school principals with the stresses of the profession to retain teachers and teachers who are supported by their principals are more likely to remain in the teaching profession. Grissom et al. (2019) investigated the barriers principals have when supporting teachers and stated that principals struggle to support teachers due to lack of central office support and the use of teacher observation data to make decisions. Bezzina and Farrugia (2022) indicated that school principals struggle to support teachers to remain in the teaching profession and struggle to decrease teacher burnout and increase the number of teachers remaining in the teaching profession.

Teacher Burnout

Teacher burnout is a national issue (Brunsting, 2022) and a response to stress (Fotre, 2022). Camacho and Parham (2019) reported more stress of the teaching profession compared to other professions that "teachers in urban schools often experience challenges in the workplace resulting in them experiencing chronic stress, burnout, and

attrition" (para 4). Farmer (2020) noted that principals should support teachers because organizational and administrative conditions cause work-related stress. Brasfield et al. (2019) indicated that the teaching profession is one of the highest-ranking professions linked to stress and burnout and that teachers leave the profession after the first 5 years of teaching due to stress and burnout. Brasfield et al. concluded that school leaders should examine the factors of teacher burnout. Bottiani et al. (2019) reported that school leaders affect teachers' burnout; based on a sample of 255 teachers from low-income urban middle schools, the researchers reported that teachers had higher burnout than their counterparts due to the lack of instructional dialogue between teachers and principals, which was linked to higher levels of burnout.

Factors Contributing to Teachers' Burnout

Butyrina and Perima (2018) examined teachers' work-related burnout by examining the factors causing burnout to identify ways to reduce burnout and reported that reducing teachers' burnout is crucial to retain teachers because the factor causing teacher burnout was work-related issues. Lawrence et al. (2019) examined high school teachers who experienced work-related stress by using a sample of 215 teachers who completed an online survey and reported that high school teachers experienced work-related stress. According to Toom (2018), low-burnout teachers manage work-related stress, teachers having high-burnout experience difficulties in the work environments, and teachers' self-concept affected teacher burnout via teacher efficacy. Teachers' work-related conditions are linked with burnout (Brunsting, 2022). Skaalvik (2020) examined principal's LPs and factors affecting teachers' burnout by using a sample of 340

elementary and high school principals and reported that emotional exhaustion was a factor for teachers' burnout. Grant and Drew (2022) indicated that teachers experience burnout, which is caused by emotional exhaustion.

Work-Related Stress and Teachers' Burnout

Researchers examining the association between work-related stress and burnout with teachers' work performance have found there is an association between work-related stress and teacher burnout because the teacher profession is stressful, and the confrontational and compelling work environment and teacher responsibilities cause teachers to experience burnout (O'Brennan et al., 2019; Sneba & Maheswari, 2020). Richards et al. (2018) indicated that the teacher profession is stressful, which creates teacher burnout, and teacher development should decrease teacher burnout. O'Brennan et al. (2019) examined if school-related issues contribute to teacher burnout using a sample was 3,225 high school teachers from 58 high schools and found that work-related issues resulted in teachers experiencing burnout. Elyashiv (2019) indicated that teachers leave the profession due to work-related stress, teacher attrition is one of the most challenging factors that contributes to teacher burnout, and school principals should identify the causes of attrition and reduce teacher burnout. Luthar (2020) indicated that teachers are at high risk for experiencing burnout as extra stress can be caused on teachers from providing empathic support to troubled students, and school administrators can support teachers to reduce burnout. Luthar (2020) suggested that school leaders must be proactive in finding preventative measures to decrease teacher burnout. Bodenheimer and Shuster

(2019) investigated how burnout impact teachers' work-related experiences and indicated that work-related expectations cause teacher burnout.

Shaheen and Mahmood (2020) indicated that teacher burnout is related to stress caused by work-related issues, and found that burnout is related to emotional fatigue, depersonalization, and personal achievement. In another study, Shaheen and Mahmood (2018) described burnout as a stress condition that has indicators of physical, emotional, and psychological status of an individual at work. Additionally, burnout does not only cause low performance of teachers but also negatively influences other teachers within the school (Shaheen & Mahmood, 2018). Shaheen and Mahmood (2018) administered an emotional burnout scale to 427 primary, elementary, and secondary teachers. The level of emotional exhaustion, depersonalization, and inadequateness were the categories as well as burnout sub indicators such as fatigue, boredom, isolation, oppressive behavior, low self-esteem, and lack of job accomplishment (Shaheen & Mahmood, 2018). Shaheen and Mahmood (2018) indicated that the top three reasons for teacher burnout are emotional exhaustion, depersonalization, and personal accomplishment.

According to Habib (2020), there is a correlation between the principals' commitment and work-related burnout of teachers. Habib examined the managerial commitment and work-related burnout of secondary school teachers, using a sample of 200 randomly selected secondary school teachers, and found a significant link between the principals' LPs and teacher burnout. Hussain et al. (2021) examined workload stress and the performance of 228 elementary school teachers who completed a self-administered questionnaire and noted that because of workload stress, teachers are

inefficiently teaching. Hussain et al. found that workload stress affected the performance of elementary school teachers.

Predictors of Teacher Burnout

Bartosiewicz et al. (2022) indicated that burnout syndrome is a reaction to excessive work-related stress. Mahmood (2020) assessed the predictors of burnout using a hypothesized model of burnout and its predictors regarding emotional exhaustion, depersonalization, and reduced personal accomplishments. Mahmood revealed that the personal factor strongly predicted emotional exhaustion whereas the environmental factor was found to be a strong predictor for depersonalization and reduced personal accomplishments. Maric et al. (2021) investigated the level of stress and burnout in the work environment in primary and secondary teachers who completed a questionnaire regarding the characteristics of the work environment. Maric et al. found that the burnout syndrome is caused by stressors such as emotional exhaustion, depersonalization, and personal accomplishments in the work environment. Akin (2019), using the Maslach Burnout Inventory to collect quantitative data and semistructured interviews to collect qualitative data, found that emotional exhaustion, depersonalization, and self-failure cause burnout because employees experience stress and low performance, which is described as burnout. According to Benita (2019), who conducted longitudinal studies and examined teacher depersonalization, the main factor of burnout is emotional exhaustion, and found teachers develop negative attitudes toward students.

The Teaching Curriculum and Teacher Burnout

Yu (2018) examined why beginning teachers quit the teaching profession in alarming numbers and found that the curriculum and teacher workloads are the factors of teacher burnout causing mental health concerns. Yu reported that mental health concerns are caused by workloads and lack of support from principals resulting in teachers leaving the teaching profession. Yu found that valuable support from principals for early year teachers decreases teacher burnout, and principals' commitment and work-related burnout of teachers are correlated.

The Teaching Environment and Teacher Burnout

Administrative climate is strongly linked with new teacher burnout and school leaders can prevent new teacher burnout by providing a positive teaching environment (Daniels et al., 2020; Genc, 2020; Shrestha & Bhattarai, 2022). Genc (2020) examined teachers' burnout levels, using a sample of 477 teachers who responded to a questionnaire, and found that the levels of teachers' emotional exhaustion and depersonalization were low. Daniels et al. (2020) examined school leaders' and teachers' perceptions on LPs and noted that school leaders would be more effective and teacher burnout would be at a lower level when school leaders develop teacher collaboration. Daniels et al. held focus groups and reported that school leadership is a relationship between school leaders and teachers. School leaders should be collaborating with teachers because teachers indicated that support, encouragement, and recognition are vital to decreasing burnout and job dissatisfaction (Daniels et al., 2020).

School principals should address teachers' psychological needs in the teaching environment (Ford et al., 2019). Ford et al. explored how school leaders' actions and behaviors support positive teacher outcomes by addressing teachers' psychological needs such as intrapersonal, interpersonal, and organizational. The interpersonal stage such as teacher-to-principal interactions are primarily functions to cultivate organizational commitment among teachers (Ford et al., 2019). The organizational stage cultivates a trusting and enabling work environment where teachers can build on existing knowledge and skills resulting in decreasing teacher burnout (Ford et al., 2019).

Self-Efficacy and Teacher Burnout

Lorenzo et al. (2018) indicated that teacher burnout signifies a problem for teachers and teacher burnout increases teachers' absenteeism, turnover, health issues, and job dissatisfaction. Lorenzo et al. used an empirical test of the social identity model stress to assess 2,685 teachers and found that school leaders could decrease teachers' stress by increasing the perception of social support and thereby decreasing teachers' perceptions of workload. Similar to the study of Lorenzo et al., Abu-Hilal et al. (2020) examined teacher burnout and indicated that school principals should decrease teacher burnout and found that low self-efficacy contributed to teacher burnout. Findings concluded that negative emotions were related to teacher burnout. Ozturk et al. (2021) investigated self-efficacy and teacher burnout with a sample of 284 middle school teachers and reported that work-related issues affected teachers' self-efficacy and burnout. Furthermore, teacher burnout is an issue in the teaching profession, which is linked to job satisfaction (Iancu et al., 2018).

Workload and Teacher Burnout

School principals could decrease teachers' burnout by addressing the increased workload (Doherty, 2020). Doherty examined work-related factors and indicated that school principals should address the increased workload that teachers are required to perform in order to reduce teacher burnout. Doherty indicated that teacher workload is a critical factor that affects teachers' decisions to leave the teaching profession as well as negatively influencing teacher retention. Teacher burnout and school principals' LPs were factors impacting teacher attrition (Doherty, 2020).

Researchers reported that English foreign language teachers experience burnout (Gunes & Uysal, 2019). Gunes and Uysal conducted a qualitative study and collected data via semistructured interviews to investigate English foreign language teachers' burnout and work-related issues. Gunes and Uysal indicated that teachers begin the teaching profession with great perfectionism and high expectations; however, after they begin teaching, they recognize the gap between their initial ideals and the reality of the teaching environment. Gunes and Uysal noted that English foreign language teachers rarely receive the support they needed from school principals to reduce burnout.

According to Gunes and Uysal, the factors that caused EFL English foreign language teachers' burnout was heavy workload.

Teacher's Job Satisfaction and Burnout

Teachers' job satisfaction is a predictor of teacher burnout. Zincirli (2021) investigated the correlations between teachers' job satisfaction, burnout, and individual performance perceptions using a sample of 359 teachers and the job satisfaction, burnout,

and the individual performance scales to collect data. Teachers' job satisfaction perception was a predictor of burnout, and teachers' job satisfaction was a predictor of individual performance perception (Zincirli). Huk et al. (2018) stated that irrational beliefs are linked to unhealthy emotions adding to occupational teacher burnout when considering school resources, job demands, and teacher characteristics. Huk et al. had a sample of 79 high school teachers who completed a questionnaire measuring burnout, school demands and resources, and irrational beliefs and found that burnout was positively connected to school demands. Huk et al. noted, "Burnout was negatively connected to school resources such as support from principals and colleagues, as well as negatively being connected to self-efficacy and positively connected to irrational beliefs" (para 3).

Iancu et al. (2018) reported that principal-teacher interventions affect emotional exhaustion of teachers. According to Anama-Green (2020), over 40% of new teachers leave the profession within the first 5 years of teaching due to work-related burnout, and teacher burnout could be prevented with targeted interventions. Madigan and Kim (2021) examined the reasons teachers leave the profession and suggested interventions to decrease teacher attrition, and reported that exhaustion, depersonalization, and reduced accomplishment are factors resulting in teacher burnout.

Implications

I developed a position paper for K-12 school principals to better implement their LP to support teachers who experience burnout in the public-school districts under study. The position paper will be presented to the education stakeholders of the participating

school districts to help K-12 school principals to better implement their LPs to support teachers who experience burnout in the public school district under study (see Appendix A). Additionally, the findings may inform school district leaders about K-12 school principals' perceptions regarding their LPs to support teachers to stay in the teaching profession. K-12 school principals' perspectives may shed light on their LPs to support teachers to remain in the teaching profession. School district leaders should know K-12 school principals' LPs regarding teacher retention for these leaders to support each principal. Researchers may use the findings in future studies concerning the LPs of K–12 school principals to improve teacher retention. The position may help K-12 school principals with strategies to support teachers to reduce burnout and may help school district leaders with strategies to support K-12 school principals with new ways to reduce teachers' burnout at the study site (see Appendix A). The content of the position paper may support positive social change by helping K-12 school principals to better implement their LPs to support teachers who experience burnout to stay in the teaching profession.

Summary

There is a significant link between the principals' LPs and teacher burnout (Habib, 2020), and principals' LPs should be applied to create structures to reduce teacher burnout by supporting teachers (Cece et al., 2022). Rachmawati and Suyanto (2021) reported that principals' competencies influence teachers' work commitment and job satisfaction. School principals should investigate why teachers experience burnout (Skaalvik, 2020) and could support teachers to reduce burnout (Luthar, 2020).

Negative emotions are related to teacher burnout (Atmaca et al., 2020), teachers are at high risk for experiencing burnout (Luthar, 2020), and teachers experience burnout (Brunsting, 2022). There is a positive association between work-related stress and teacher burnout (Sneba & Maheswari, 2020), and principals should support teachers (Farmer, 2020). Mahmood (2020) indicated that teacher burnout is caused by work-related stress because teachers feel emotionally exhausted. School leaders should be collaborating with teachers because teachers indicated that support, encouragement, and recognition are vital to decreasing burnout (Daniels et al., 2020).

Workload stress effect the performance of teachers (Hussain et al., 2021), and work-related issues affected teachers' burnout (Ozturk et al., 2021). Teacher workload is a critical factor that affects teachers' decisions to leave the teaching profession (Doherty, 2020), and teachers' job satisfaction is a predictor of burnout (Zincirli, 2021). Teacher burnout could be prevented with targeted interventions (Anama-Green, 2020) because exhaustion, depersonalization, and reduced accomplishment are factors resulting in teacher burnout (Madigan & Kim, 2021). Teacher burnout affects teaching (Brunsting et al., 2022) when workload stress affects the performance of teachers because of emotional exhaustion (Bartosiewicz et al., 2022; Grant & Drew, 2022; Hunter & Springer, 2022). Principals have an effect on teachers' stress (Meyer et al., 2022) and struggle to decrease teacher burnout (Bezzina & Farrugia, 2022). In Section 2, I present the methodology used in this project study.

Section 2: The Methodology

The problem for this study is that K–12 school principals are inconsistently implementing LPs to support teachers who are experiencing burnout in the public school districts under study. The purpose of this basic qualitative research study is to examine the perceptions of K–12 school principals regarding their LPs to support teachers who are experiencing burnout. Upon institutional review board (IRB) approval, I used a basic qualitative research design to select a purposive sample of K–12 principals and collected data via one-on-one semistructured interviews. In Section 2, I will describe the research design and approach, research questions, selection of the participants, the role of the researcher, and data collection and analysis procedures.

Qualitative Research Design and Approach

I conducted this basic qualitative study to answer the research question by gathering and interpreting in-depth data from interviews to understand the K–12 school principals' perceptions of their LPs to support teachers who experience burnout.

Qualitative data were collected via one-on-one semistructured interviews with K–12 school principals guided by the research question (see Creswell & Creswell, 2017). The following research question guided this project study: What are the perceptions of K-12 school principals regarding the implementation of their LPs to support teachers who experience burnout?

A qualitative research design is inductive in nature (see Merriam, 2009). For this project study, a qualitative research design was suitable to examine the perceptions of K–12 school principals at the study site (see Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). To answer the

research question focusing on the experiences of the participants, a qualitative research design was applied to conduct interviews with K–12 school principals (see Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). As I am a novice researcher, a qualitative method was appropriate to investigate the phenomenon of LPs of K–12 school principals (see Creswell & Creswell, 2017). The reason qualitative data were collected was to gain an in-depth understanding of the participants who were K–12 school principals from the project site (see Creswell & Creswell, 2017; Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). A basic qualitative study was used to explore the perceptions of the participants that could not be evaluated through quantitative statistical research (see Yin, 2014).

The basic qualitative design was also more appropriate than other qualitative designs, such as ethnography, phenomenology, or grounded research, due to the nature of this study (see Yin, 2014). An ethnography focuses on an entire cultural group (see Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). For this project study, the focus was not on the culture of the participants and therefore an ethnographic qualitative design was not suitable (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). I did not select phenomenology or grounded theory for the following reasons. The purpose of phenomenology is to study human experiences (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Phenomenology is not suitable when feelings and reactions are researched (Creswell & Creswell, 2017), therefore the approach was not used in this study. A grounded theory design is used to create a new theory (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016), which was not the focus of this project study.

This project study was bounded by the perceptions of the participants. The goal of this study was to gain knowledge of a specific phenomenon (Merriam, 2009). The central

phenomenon was the perceptions of K–12 school principals regarding their LP to support teachers who experience burnout. I used a basic qualitative research design to collect qualitative data via interviews from a sample comprised of 10 K–12 principals who were selected using purposive sampling (see Merriam & Tisdell, 2016; Ravitch & Carl, 2016). During the interviews, an interview protocol containing the interview questions was used (see Merriam & Tisdell, 2016).

For a quantitative design, statistical analyses are conducted (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). However, the purpose of this study was not to discover statistical findings (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). A quantitative research design for this project study was not selected because numeric data, such as state test scores from schools in the local setting, were not collected to examine the perceptions of K–12 school principals regarding their implementation of LPs to support teachers who experience burnout. A quantitative research design does not provide the naturalistic, descriptive, and analytic components that qualitative research allows (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Mixed methods design was not appropriate for this project study because this design involves both quantitative and qualitative inquiry (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). A qualitative research method was used to understand the participants in their natural settings in ways to reflect the meaning that the participants make out of their own experiences (see Yin, 2018).

Participants

The setting for this project study was two public school districts located in the Southwest United States and was intentionally selected to collect qualitative data regarding a central phenomenon (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). The population for this

project study was 102 K–12 principals from two public school districts who were invited to participate in this project study to examine, "a predetermined phenomenon" via interviews (Creswell & Creswell, 2017, para 2). Qualitative data contain words from a small sample of participants; however, a sample size of six participants is appropriate for qualitative studies (Creswell & Creswell, 2017).

I used a sampling plan that included a sampling method, a sample size, and procedure for recruiting participants (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). Sample size varies and depends on the details about each participant, and the time to collect and analyze qualitative data (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). Determining the sample size is important to have data saturation, which can be reached when there are no new data, no new codes or themes, and the study can be replicated (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). Data saturation refers to data adequacy, meaning the point at which no new information is obtained and the researcher is obliged to present the findings to permit transferability (Creswell & Creswell, 2017).

Upon IRB approval (Approval no. 02-20-23-0654546), I invited all K-12 principals using purposive sampling because the participants were selected for a specific reason (see Ravitch & Carl, 2016). The sample consisted of K-12 principals who met the selection criteria . In order to participate, principals needed to (a) have been working at the study site for at least 3 academic years, (b) be state-certified, and (c) have had experience with teacher burnout. A sample size of over six participants may be sufficient to answer the research question because the participants are selected based on the

selection criteria for being knowledgeable of the phenomenon of the research (Ravitch & Carl, 2016).

The participants had school district email addresses posted on the website of the two public school districts, and I used the websites to locate and copy their email addresses. The websites provided information such as the names of the principals and the number of years they have been serving as principals. Those K-12 principals at the project site met the aforementioned selection criteria. I sent out emails to invite them to participate in interviews with me. In the emails, I included the purpose and significance of the project study, the participant selection criteria, and information about the interviews, such as duration of the interviews and the use of the Zoom videoconferencing platform. Those K-12 principals who were interested in participating in the interviews, I asked them to reply with "I consent." Those who consented to participate in the study, I contacted via email to schedule the Zoom conferences. I provided each participant with the Zoom meeting link and the date and time of the conference call based on each participant's availability. This process was repeated and 10 K-12 principals agreed to participate in the study. The sample included 10 K-12 principals from two elementary schools, three middle schools, and five high schools (serving Grades K-5, 6-8, and 9-12, respectively).

Data Collection

Data were collected using semistructured interviews and an interview protocol (see Appendix B). The conceptual framework was the instructional leadership framework, which was used to develop the open-ended interview questions (see

Appendix B). Two retired K–12 principals reviewed the interview questions for clarity and ambiguity and provided feedback to ensure that the interview questions created an inquiry-based conversation (see Appendix B). Those retired principals who reviewed the interview questions did not participate in this project study.

Regarding instrumentation, data were collected using semistructured interviews and an interview protocol to ask the same interview questions to each participant (see Creswell & Creswell, 2017). For each interview, I explained the purpose of this project study, the time for each interview, and confidentiality. Interviews are used to engage with the participants to understand, describe, and analyze the participants' meaning of their lived experiences (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). I used the responsive interviewing technique to collect data from the participants who had expert knowledge of the phenomenon being studied by hearing their answers to the interview questions (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). I obtained IRB approval through Walden University before the data collection process began.

I conducted the interviews via Zoom and developed a professional novice researcher—participant working relationship with each participant, and each interview was scheduled on a date and time convenient for each participant. After the interviews were scheduled, each participant received an email invitation for when the Zoom conference was held and was informed their participation in the interviews was voluntary and the responses will be kept confidential, and each participant had the right to withdraw from this project study at any time.

During the Zoom conferences, I created a good rapport with each participant and ensured that each participant was comfortable to answer the interview questions with honesty. Each interview was between 50 minutes and 1 hour. I audio-taped each interview with each participant's permission, and each recorded interview is stored securely on my home computer that I will keep for 5 years. I assigned an alphanumeric code to each participant, such as P1 for the first school principal, P2 for the second school principal, and so forth. Member checks were used simultaneously during each interview to ask each participant to verify that I accurately described their responses (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). After each interview, I transcribed the interview and saved the interview transcripts on my personal computer for analysis.

Data Analysis

Qualitative researchers use inductive data analysis to read the interview transcripts and code the data for emergent themes (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). After I transcribed all interviews and saved the interview transcripts on my personal computer, I started the analysis. I used NVivo (v. 10) to organize the interview transcripts and read each interview transcript multiple times to understand the participants' responses.

Qualitative data analysis involves open and axial coding (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). I compiled the participants' responses and searched for keywords, phrases, and sentences from the interviews and recorded them on a chart (Saldaña, 2016). I used a coding process to chart similar phrases and keywords, using axial coding to identify common words and phrases (Saldaña, 2016). During open coding, I highlighted sections of the interview transcripts and used labels (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). During axial coding, I

grouped the open codes into categories to identify themes (Ravitch & Carl, 2016), and revised and refined the categories and themes until no new information was found (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016).

Through reviewing and re-reviewing common words and phrases, categories and subcategories emerge, and from the subcategories and categories, themes emerge (Saldaña, 2016). I reviewed all themes for consistency and performed member checking with each participant for the participants to acknowledge that the interview transcripts were accurate (Ravitch & Carl, 2016); the participants did not request revisions. I considered all data and searched for discrepant cases and found none (Yin, 2018).

For Theme 1, the common keywords were: *apply, burnout, experience, feedback, LP, provide, support,* and *teachers*. The common phrase was applied LPs to provide feedback to teachers to support them. Theme 1 was that the participants applied their LPs to support teachers who experience burnout by providing feedback.

For Theme 2, the common keywords were: *issues, retain, teachers, resolve*, and *work-related issues*. The common phrase was applied LPs to resolve teachers' work-related issues. Theme 2 was that the participants applied their LPs to retain teachers by resolving teachers' work-related issues.

For Theme 3, the common keywords were: *create, environment, positive, teachers,* and *work*. The common phrase was applied LPs to create a positive work environment for teachers. Theme 3 was that the participants applied their LPs to create a positive work environment for teachers.

For Theme 4, the common keywords were: *clear, clearly, communicate, communication, curriculum, expect, expectations*, and *teaching*. The common phrase was applied LPs to clearly communicate the teaching curriculum expectations to teachers.

Theme 4 was that the participants applied their LPs to clearly communicate the teaching curriculum expectations to teachers.

I have been a school principal for over 15 academic years and have a passion for supporting teachers to remain in the teaching profession. I minimized my potential researcher bias by maintaining professionalism, following ethical research standards, and obtaining IRB approval from Walden University and the senior school district administrators from the study sites (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). During each interview, I kept a reflexivity journal to record predispositions to minimize researcher biases and reactivity (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Concerning internal validity, professionals who were not associated with the study sites reviewed the findings, and the feedback from these professionals focused on the emergent themes representing the findings (Connelly, 2016). Regarding confirmability, I reviewed the participants' responses to the interview questions (Ravitch & Carl, 2016).

Evidence of Quality

Data were collected using only interviews. The sample was 10 K–12 school principals. I interviewed the participants using one-on-one semistructured interviews and collected qualitative data. The 10 interviews were sufficient to answer the research question as no new information emerged. The emergent themes are a reflection of the participants' perceptions. Two retired principals who were not interviewed or associated

with this study site helped me conduct an external audit by reviewing the findings. I asked the participants to review their responses to the interview questions during member checking. I kept a reflexivity journal to record predispositions to minimize researcher biases and reactivity. In order to establish trustworthiness in my study, I used transcripts, a reflective journal, and member checking to verify data. The themes may apply to similar public school districts.

Trustworthiness or rigor of a study is the degree of confidence in data, interpretation, and methods used to ensure the quality of a study (Connelly, 2016; Ravitch & Carl, 2016). During the data analysis for this project study, I ensured trustworthiness that the interview data were accurately represented and that the findings provided an accurate reflection of the participants' experiences (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Trustworthiness includes credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). During the data analysis, I ensured trustworthiness, credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability. I describe below the process used to establish trustworthiness.

Credibility

Credibility describes the internal validity of the study. The following strategies were used to ensure credibility. I asked two retired K–12 principals familiar with teacher burnout in the local setting to review the interview questions for clarity and ambiguity to provide me with feedback, and to review the potential themes. These two retired principals helped me conduct an external audit because these professionals were not associated with this study site. These retired K–12 principals were not interviewed or

associated with this study site; however, they reviewed the findings. I asked the participants to review their responses to the interview questions during member checking.

The data collection plan was used to ensure credibility of this project study. The setting of this study has been described in Section 1. The participants were given up to 1 hour during the interviews to answer the interview questions. Member checks were used for each participant to verify the accuracy of their responses (see Creswell & Creswell, 2017). In the findings, excerpts from the participants' responses are included. A reflexivity journal was used to record predispositions to minimize researcher biases and reactivity (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). I used transcripts, reflective journal, and member checking to establish trustworthiness (Connelly, 2016).

Transferability

Transferability refers to the ability to compare a research study with other studies (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Regarding transferability, the findings include quotes from interviews (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). A description of the setting of this project study is provided in Section 1 and a description of the participants is provided in this section (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). In Section 3, a detailed description of the findings is provided (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). I provide detailed descriptions of the interview data, including thick descriptions of each interview in Section 3.

Dependability

A dependable research study must be accurate and consistent (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). According to Ravitch and Carl (2016), a qualitative researcher should have an audit of the data by following the data collection and analysis process, participant

selection criteria, and the interview protocol. I provided a detailed description of the data collection, analysis, and interpretation (Ravitch & Carl, 2016). Regarding dependability, I ensured that the interview data were consistent (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). I described how I collected and analyzed the data for this project study and provided evidence that the data collection and analysis process was aligned to the problem and purpose statements in Section 1 (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). I asked two retired K–12 principals to review the findings and provide feedback.

Confirmability

According to Ravitch and Carl (2016), confirmability refers to the extent to which the findings of a study are based upon the data. One way in which to remain objective when conducting a research study is to stay "as close to the data as possible," and in this case, that means with the language used by the participants during the interviews while coding (Ravitch & Carl, 2016, p. 265). Furthermore, recognizing one's own biases will ensure that the researcher remains objective. Any theories or assumptions noted while gathering, assessing, and interpreting data were indicated via written analytical memos. After interviewing each participant, reactions and biases were recorded. Finally, notes on the process for analyzing the data, as well as the procedural aspects of the data were noted.

Regarding confirmability, coding was used to identify patterns in the interview transcripts. The findings included evidence to support the emergent themes that were documented. As a novice researcher, I applied my work-related experience and education background during the data collection and analysis process.

Discrepant Cases

The interview transcripts were analyzed for emergent themes. Using this coding technique allowed me to determine if discrepancies existed in this data. There were no substantial discrepancies in the data obtained from the participants that prompted the need to exclude data. Yet, important differing opinions and ideas were expressed by the participants. These data were included in the analysis to strengthen the credibility of my study.

Data Analysis Results

The study's conceptual framework was the instructional leadership theory, which theorized that principals apply the exact instructional LPs to manage schools. Data analysis results supported the following themes:

Theme 1: K-12 School Principals Applied Their LP to Support Their Teachers who Experienced Burnout by Providing Feedback

The 10 participants applied their LPs to support teachers who experience burnout by providing feedback. The participants explained that feedback refers to the instructional dialogue between teachers and principals. All participants said the teaching profession is stressful and supported teachers to reduce teacher burnout by providing feedback to the teachers. All participants reported having feedback conversations with teachers to identify teacher burnout. P1 said their role as an administrator is to be supportive of teachers and prevent teacher depersonalization by providing feedback. P2 provided feedback to the teachers to adequately support them. P3 emphasized the need to support teachers on a regular basis by providing feedback. P4 reported school principals' LPs

influence teachers' well-being by providing feedback. P5 agreed with P4 that school principals need to understand teachers' well-being. P6 applied their LPs to influence teachers' job satisfaction by providing feedback. P7 reported the LPs of school principals influenced teachers' burnout because of work commitment and principal's feedback influences teachers' job satisfaction. P8 reported applying LPs to ensure that teachers do not experience stress because of work commitment and as a result principal's feedback helps teachers reduce their stress. P9 and P10 emphasized the need to apply LPs to support teachers for teachers to remain in the teaching profession. Thus, all participants said they supported teachers who experience burnout by providing feedback.

Theme 2: K-12 School Principals Applied Their LP to Retain Their Teachers who Experienced Burnout by Resolving Teachers' Work-Related Issues

The second theme was K–12 school principals retain teachers by resolving teachers' work-related issues. P1 said when work-related issues are resolved between the principal and the teachers, the principal is not causing stress on the teachers and teachers stay in the teaching profession. P2 said teachers experience work-related issues resulting in teachers' burnout. According to P2, teachers leave the teaching profession when they cannot manage or cope with work-related issues and as a result, they experience burnout. P3 spoke about the application of LPs to help teachers manage work-related stress for those teachers not to experience difficulties in the work environment. P3 implied school principals should resolve work-related issues directly with the teachers. According to P4, teachers' work-related issues cause burnout. P4 applied LPs to resolve work-related issues with teachers to reduce teachers' burnout. P5 said they applied burnout and out

why teachers experience burnout and reported that work-related issues must be resolved between the principal and the teachers because these issues cause stress on the teachers, and stress results in burnout. P6 reported teachers experience burnout when work-related stress levels increase. P6 applied their LPs to ensure that teachers' work-related stress levels are decreased by resolving work-related issues directly with the teachers. P7 noted teacher attrition at the study site was influenced by work-related stress levels. P7 attempted to resolve work-related issues directly with the teachers by applying LPs to identify teachers who experience burnout. P7 concluded teacher attrition was associated with principals' LPs. P8 noticed teachers' stress caused by work-related issues resulted in teachers' burnout. P8 applied LPs to resolve work-related issues one-on-one with the teachers. P9 noted teachers' work performance was influenced by work-related issues. According to P9, the teaching profession is very stressful when work-related issues are not resolved between the school principal and the teachers. P9 stated that unresolved work-related issues created teacher burnout. According to P10, as a school principal, they recognized when teachers are experiencing burnout and identified ways to address the work-related issues directly with teachers experiencing burnout.

All participants agreed that teachers experience work-related issues resulting in teachers' burnout. Based on Theme 2, school principals apply their LPs to resolve teachers' work-related issues with the teachers for teachers to stay in the teaching profession because work-related issues cause stress on the teachers, and stress results in burnout. Thus, the second theme was that K–12 school principals retain teachers by resolving teachers' work-related issues with the teachers.

Theme 3: K-12 School Principals Applied Their LP to a Positive Work Environment to Support Their Teachers who Experienced Burnout

The third theme was that the participants applied their LPs to create a positive work environment for teachers. P1 stated school principals may prevent teacher burnout by providing a positive work environment. According to P1, a positive work environment means the principal is not causing stress on teachers. P1 explained that when the principal is not creating a positive work environment, teachers' levels of stress increase, which is a factor of burnout. P2 noted the work environment causes teacher burnout. P3 said that they are proactive in finding preventative measures to decrease teacher burnout. The example P3 gave was that the principal must apply LPs to create a work environment that is positive for teachers. P4 reported teacher burnout affects the work environment, and teacher burnout is caused by stress. According to P5, teacher burnout is associated with stress caused by school principals. P5 emphasized that teacher burnout causes low performance of teachers and affects other teachers within the school. According to P6, school principals can stress teachers and cause emotional exhaustion. P7 emphasized that school principals should create a positive work environment for teachers to prevent teacher burnout. P8 reported that when a principal creates a positive work environment, the levels of teachers' emotional exhaustion are low. According to P9, when the principal does not create a positive work environment then teacher burnout increases. P9 said teachers' absenteeism is an indicator that the principal does not create a positive work environment. P9 reported teacher burnout is the result of not creating a positive work

environment. According to P10, a positive work environment is a predictor of teacher burnout. P10 said teachers leave the profession when the work environment is negative.

Theme 4: K-12 School Principals Applied Their LP to Clearly Communicate Curriculum Expectations to Teachers

The fourth theme was that the participants applied their LPs to clearly communicate the teaching curriculum expectations to teachers. P1 stated school principals may prevent teacher burnout by clearly communicating the teaching curriculum expectations to teachers. According to P1, when the principal's teaching curriculum expectations are clearly communicated to teachers, they do not cause stress on teachers. P1 explained that when the principal's teaching curriculum expectations are unclearly communicated to teachers, teachers' levels of stress increase and teachers become emotionally exhausted, which is a factor of burnout. P2 noted that when the teaching curriculum expectations are unclearly communicated to teachers by the school principal, the teachers experience burnout. P3 said that they are proactive in finding preventative measures to decrease teacher burnout. The example P3 gave was that they clearly communicated the teaching curriculum expectations to teachers. P4 reported teacher burnout affects the delivery of the teaching curriculum. P4 said the teaching curriculum expectations is a factor of teacher burnout causing stress on teachers when the principal's expectations are unclearly communicated to teachers. P5 mentioned LP must include the principal's commitment to clearly communicate the teaching curriculum expectations to teachers. According to P5, teacher burnout is associated with stress caused by the unclear curriculum expectations of school principals. P5 emphasized that

teacher burnout, caused by the unclear principal's teaching curriculum expectations to teachers, results in low performance of teachers and affects other teachers within the school. According to P6, school principals should clearly communicate the teaching curriculum expectations to teachers because unclear expectations can stress teachers and cause emotional exhaustion. P7 emphasized that school principals need to have teacherto-principal interactions when the principal's teaching curriculum expectations are unclear. P7 reported that the principal should apply LPs to prevent teacher burnout. According to P8, when the principal applies LPs to clearly communicate the teaching curriculum expectations to teachers, the levels of teachers' emotional exhaustion are decreased. P8 applied LPs, especially collaboration with teachers, to reduce teacher burnout. P8 said collaboration with teachers is vital to decrease burnout. P9 mentioned when the principal does not clearly communicate the teaching curriculum expectations to teachers, teacher burnout increases. P10 said they applied their LPs to clearly communicate the teaching curriculum expectations to teachers, because communication between the principal and teachers is a predictor of teacher burnout.

Interpretation of the Findings

I conducted this basic qualitative research. The conceptual framework was the instructional leadership theory of Hallinger and Murphy (1985) who stated that school leaders apply the same instructional LPs to manage schools. School principals are engaged in school functions, activities, procedures, and practices of the school organization (Hallinger, & Murphy, 1985). The activities performed by school principals include communication with teachers, and the procedures and practices of the school

organization refer to adhering to state and district policies and procedures of the school and yearly state assessments. I used the main components of the instructional leadership theory: setting school instructional goals and communicating them to the school staff and stakeholders, managing school instructional programs, and development of school climate by supporting teachers' professional development, addressing time management, and providing incentives and rewards for both teachers and students.

For this project study, the emergent themes answered the research question. The findings of this project study are in line with the findings of scholars who explored the instructional LPs of school principals (Mattar, 2012; Modeste et al., 2022). Researchers stated that school principals apply the instructional leadership theory to improve student learning at schools (Ma & Marion; Maestre et al., 2015) because they have common instructional leadership experiences (Modeste et al.) School principals establish clear school goals as educational leaders in teaching and learning (Karacabey et al., 2020).

Theme 1

The first theme was that the participants applied their LPs to support teachers who experience burnout by providing feedback. The findings of this project study are in line with the findings of scholars who reported that school principals should support teachers (Bezzina & Farrugia, 2022; Brunsting, 2022; Farmer, 2020). The findings revealed that teacher burnout is caused by stress (Fotre, 2022; Grant & Drew, 2022), teachers' work-related conditions are linked with burnout (Sneba & Maheswari, 2020), and school principals should apply LP to investigate why teachers experience burnout (Skaalvik, 2020). Luthar (2020) wrote that school administrators can support teachers to reduce

burnout, and Habib (2020) found a correlation between the managerial commitment and work-related burnout of secondary school teachers. School principals influence teacher burnout (Genc, 2020) and should support teachers because principals' support is vital to decreasing burnout (Daniels et al., 2020). Abu-Hilal et al. (2020) and Atmaca et al. (2020) found that school principals should decrease teacher burnout and should support teachers to decrease teacher attrition.

The findings of this project study are in line with the findings of researchers who reported that school principals should support teachers. School leaders should support teachers (Jeon et al., 2022) because principals' support affects teacher burnout (Herman et al., 2023). In a study conducted by Kaiser and Thompson (2021), principals should focus on supporting teacher efficacy and retention within a school district with high rates of teacher attrition by creating collegial relationships and seeking feedback on individual teacher needs. Like Kaiser and Thompson, Bukko et al. (2021) emphasized that principals should support teachers to retain them in schools.

According to Cece et al. (2022), principal's support of teachers influences secondary teachers' burnout, and recommended school principals should support teachers by providing pedagogical expertise to teachers during the school year. Zilka et al. (2019) reported that principal support enhances teachers' professional growth because principal support influences teacher burnout and concluded that teachers believe support from the principal shapes their mindset regarding teaching growth.

Eğinli (2021) conducted a quantitative study to understand principal support and teacher retention and stated that principals' lack of support influences teachers'

confidence and principal leadership should include supporting teachers. The school principal should provide teachers with individual support because principal support increases the levels of teacher retention, and there should be no absence of principal support when teachers experience teaching problems (Eğinli, 2021). Similar to the recommendations made by Eğinli stated that principal support is needed to help teachers remain at schools. Hwang (2022) found that mathematics teachers' stress is influencing teachers' dialogic instruction and those mathematics teachers who had high stress were less likely to implement dialogic instruction. Teachers with unsupportive leaders are likely to have low job satisfaction because stress is associated with burnout (Hwang, 2022).

School leaders' support is a factor influencing teachers' stress, and school leaders should foster collaboration between teachers and leaders (Carroll et al., 2021).

Researchers found that a strategy to reduce teacher burnout is for school leaders to support teachers to improve self-efficacy (Zheng, 2022) because school leaders' support of teachers increases teachers' job satisfaction (Ghanbari & Majooni, 2022). Similar to the studies of Carroll et al. (2021), Ghanbari and Majooni (2022), and Zheng (2022), school leaders should support teachers by using strategies to help teachers improve their well-being by coping with stress (Froehlich et al., 2022).

Theme 2

The second theme was K-12 school principals retained teachers by resolving teachers' work-related issues. The findings revealed that school principals resolved work-related issues with the teachers. The findings of this project study are in line with the

findings of scholars who reported that teacher burnout is caused by work-related stress (Bartosiewicz et al., 2022; Mahmood, 2020; Maric et al., 2021). Hussain et al. (2021) stated workload stress affects the performance of elementary school teachers, and Ozturk et al. (2021) wrote work-related issues affect middle school teachers' burnout. According to Doherty (2020), school principals should address work-related issues, which is a critical factor affecting teachers' decisions to leave the teaching profession. Anama-Green (2020) said teachers leave the profession within the first 5 years of teaching due to work-related burnout.

Theme 2 is in line with the findings of researchers who found that principals may retain teachers by resolving teachers' work-related issues. School leaders should support teachers whose work-related demands are high, and job demands refer to work-related stressors associated with teacher burnout and as a result school leaders should strive to improve teachers' working conditions (Jeon et al., 2022). In a study conducted by Zheng (2022), college English language teachers' job burnout was influenced by work-related issues. Zheng wrote that the correlation between college English language teachers' job burnout and self-efficacy is negative. School leaders who study burnout should take into consideration work-related stressors, and a strategy to reduce teacher burnout is for leaders to support teachers to improve self-efficacy (Zheng, 2022). School leaders should use interventions to support teachers to improve their self-efficacy resulting in the reduction of teacher burnout (Zheng, 2022). Ghanbari and Majooni (2022) agreed with the findings of Zheng (2022) and wrote that school leadership is a factor influencing teacher burnout, and toxic leadership negatively affects work-related issues. Similar to

the findings of Zheng and Ghanbari and Majooni, teachers of English as foreign language experience burnout because the teaching profession is stressful and teacher burnout affects both teaching and learning because teachers' workload has the strongest effect on burnout (Cheng, 2022). School leaders should resolve teachers' heavy work-related issues and provide feedback to teachers (Cheng, 2022). Carroll et al. (2022) explored work-related stress and burnout and found that teachers in rural and remote areas were very stressed and considered leaving the teaching profession. School leaders should notice that teachers' well-being is a predictor of stress and should use interventions to target the well-being of teachers as an attempt to reduce teachers' stress (Carroll et al., 2022).

Theme 3

The third theme was that the participants applied their LPs to create a positive work environment for teachers. The findings revealed that school principals created a positive work environment for teachers. The teaching environment influences teacher retention (Eğinli, 2021). Maas et al. (2022) stated teachers experience stress in the teaching environment and Zincirli (2021) wrote that teachers' job satisfaction perception is a predictor of burnout. Supporting a school environment is conducive to student academic achievement (Tookes et al., 2020). According to Zilka et al. (2019), when the teaching environment is unsupportive by the principal support, teachers experience burnout. Researchers found that principals should create and support the teaching environment at schools via actions such as honesty and reliability by clearly communicating with teachers with respect and integrity (Bukko et al., 2021). Eğinli

(2021) noted, "collaborative principal-teacher relationship can create a safe work environment that involves feelings of satisfaction, trust, open communication, and collegiality" (p. 914). In the study of Carroll et al. (2021), teachers reported stress in the teaching environment and the need to find strategies to reduce stress.

Theme 4

The fourth theme was that the participants applied their LPs to clearly communicate the teaching curriculum expectations to teachers. The findings revealed that the participants applied their LPs to clearly communicate the teaching curriculum expectations to teachers. The instructional leadership includes the component that the principal manages the school curriculum. The findings of this project study are in line with the findings of scholars who reported that communication among teachers and principals is necessary regarding the teaching curriculum expectations. According to Darling-Hammond et al. (2020), principals should support teachers to focus om student learning the curriculum. Brandmo et al. (2021) noted school principals should apply LPs to prioritize school goals, and Reyneke (2020) acknowledged that school principals should manage instructional programs.

According to Cece et al. (2022), school principals should provide pedagogical expertise to teachers regarding the curriculum. Carroll et al. (2021) recommended the need for better systems to support teachers because school leadership influences teachers' work experience regarding expectations such as the curriculum. According to Carroll et al., school leaders should foster collaboration between teachers and leaders, and should have more reasonable curriculum expectations of teachers. In a study conducted by Fox

et al. (2020), secondary special education teachers reported stress is related to academic standards such as the curriculum. Fox et al. wrote that school leaders' expectation for teachers to cover certain amounts of the curriculum put pressure on the teachers. The secondary special education teachers in the study of Fox et al. said that standards-based curriculum and the pressure from school leaders increased their levels of stress. Carroll et al. (2022) explored work-related stress and burnout and found that teachers in rural and remote areas were very stressed and considered leaving the teaching profession because the curriculum is a primary factor of teachers experiencing burnout. School leaders should notice that teachers' well-being is a predictor of stress and should use interventions to target the well-being of teachers as an attempt to support teachers to reduce their stress associated to the curriculum (Carroll et al, 2022).

Project Deliverable

Based on the emergent themes, the project deliverable is a position paper, and its content can be used by K–12 school principals to better apply LPs to support teachers who experience burnout at the project sites. Senior school district leaders can support K–12 school principals at the project site to review and implement the content of the position paper to help teachers who experience burnout. The content of the position paper sheds further light on the perceptions of K–12 school principals regarding their implementation of LPs to support teachers who experience burnout. The field of education benefits from the content of the position paper, which is new information that K–12 school principals can use at the project study. The content of the position paper

may support positive social change by helping K-12 school principals to better implement their LPs to support teachers who experience burnout to stay at the schools.

Summary

For this project study, I used a basic qualitative research design. The instructional leadership theory was the conceptual framework, which I used because school principals apply the same instructional LPs to manage schools. The findings of this project study are in line with the findings of scholars who explored the instructional LPs of school principals and stated that school principals apply the instructional leadership theory to establish clear school goals as educational leaders in teaching and learning. The project deliverable is a position paper that can be used by K–12 school principals to better apply LPs to support teachers who experience burnout at the project site. The content of the position paper may support positive social change by helping K–12 school principals to better implement their LPs to support teachers who experience burnout to stay in the teaching profession. In Section 3, the project is presented.

Section 3: The Project

Introduction

The project is a position paper developed for K–12 school principals. The recommendations found in the position paper may help K–12 school principals with ways to reduce teachers' burnout. I will present the position paper to K–12 school principals at the study sites. The content of the position paper may support positive social change by helping K–12 school principals to better implement their LPs to support teachers who experience burnout to stay in the teaching profession.

The position paper contains excerpts from the participants who indicated that they applied LPs to support teachers who experience burnout by providing instructional feedback and prevent teacher depersonalization by understanding teachers' well-being and influencing teachers' job satisfaction by providing feedback. The position paper also contains excerpts that LPs should be applied to create a positive work environment for teachers because school principals may prevent teacher burnout by providing a positive work environment meaning the principal is not causing stress on teachers and by clearly communicating the teaching curriculum expectations to teachers.

Rationale

A position paper was developed to provide data analysis of a critical concern regarding K-12 principals at the study sites. It provides recommendations for positive change within the study sites. This study was conducted in two local school districts in which K-12 school principals have been inconsistently implementing instructional leadership practices to support teachers who experience burnout. A position paper can

offer opportunities for district leaders to gain insight into the problem in a broader way and to understand the sense of urgency to support principals to improve their leadership instructional practices to decrease the number of teachers who experience burnout.

The content of the position paper will be presented to K-12 school principals at the study sites for the attendees to learn how to support teachers who experience burnout. K-12 school principals will apply leadership practices to adequately support teachers who experience burnout by:

- providing instructional feedback on a regular basis to teachers who experience burnout to reduce teachers' stress (Yu, 2018)
- having conversations with teachers to identify teacher burnout by assessing teacher attrition (Bezzina & Farrugia, 2022)
- having dialogue on instructional practices with teachers who experience burnout (Schaak, 2010; Shrestha & Bhattari, 2022)
- positively influencing teachers' well-being via mentoring and professional development (Farmer, 2020)
- striving to understand teachers' well-being (Farmer, 2020)
- positively influencing teachers' job satisfaction in order for teachers to remain in the teaching profession (Meyer et al., 2022; Rachmawati & Suyanto, 2021)
- identifying ways to resolve directly with the teachers work-related issues
 causing burnout in order to retain teachers because such issues cause stress on
 the teachers, and stress results in burnout (Hussain et al., 2021)

- striving to decrease teachers' work-related stress levels (Hunter & Springer,
 2022; Hussain et al., 2021)
- recognizing when teachers are experiencing burnout (Yu, 2018)
- creating a positive work environment for teachers by preventing teacher burnout (Daniels et al., 2020; Genc, 2020; Shrestha & Bhattari, 2022)
- being proactive in finding preventative measures to decrease teacher burnout
 by striving not to stress teachers or cause emotional exhaustion
- clearly communicating the teaching curriculum expectations to teachers by having teacher-to-principal interactions when the principal's teaching curriculum expectations are unclear (Yu, 2018)
- recognizing that teacher burnout affects the delivery of the teaching curriculum because the teaching curriculum expectation is a factor of teacher burnout causing stress on teachers resulting in low performance of teachers and affecting other teachers within the school (Yu, 2018)
- collaborating with teachers to reduce teacher burnout

These recommendations are in line with the findings of researchers in the field of education. Researchers reported school principals should support teachers to manage stress in the teaching environment for teachers to remain in the teaching profession (Bezzina & Farrugia, 2022; Cece et al., 2022). Researchers have also reported that work-related stress is associated with burnout of teachers (Skaalvik, 2020; Sneba & Maheswari, 2020). The teaching profession is stressful, and teacher burnout affects teaching (Brunsting et al., 2022). Researchers have emphasized the need for school principals to

have instructional dialogue with teachers to reduce burnout (Bezzina & Farrugia, 2022). Workload stress affects the performance of teachers and causes emotional exhaustion (Bartosiewicz et al., 2022; Grant & Drew, 2022; Hunter & Springer, 2022; Hussain et al., 2021). Principals' LP have an effect on teachers' stress (Meyer et al., 2022; Rachmawati & Suyanto, 2021; Schaak, 2020; Shrestha & Bhattarai, 2022). Principals' LP should be applied to support teachers' teaching practices (Cece et al., 2022).

The lack of principal support affects teacher attrition, and work-related stress influences teacher burnout; principals could prevent teachers' stress, and their expectations are associated with the well-being of teachers (Farmer, 2020). Principals could work with teachers to decrease teacher burnout (Bezzina & Farrugia, 2022) because work-related stress is associated with teacher burnout (Sneba & Maheswari, 2020), and principals need to support teachers to manage stress (Cece et al., 2022) to remain teachers in the teaching profession (Bezzina & Farrugia, 2022).

Researchers have recommended that school principals apply LPs to support teachers (Bezzina & Farrugia, 2022). Teacher self-efficacy is linked to job stress (Carroll et al., 2021; Zheng, 2022). Teachers' stress affects students (Cheng, 2022; Herman et al., 2023). Principals' expectations cause teacher stress (Kruse & Edge, 2023). School leadership affects teacher burnout when these leaders do not identify, track, and counter burnout (Ghanbari & Majooni, 2022; Kruse & Edge, 2023). Principals should assist teachers in improving self-efficacy because teachers' self-efficacy is associated with teacher burnout (Zheng, 2022).

School leaders should offer interventions to teachers who experience burnout and should clearly communicate with teachers (Kruse & Edge, 2023; Lindqvist et al., 2021). Teacher interventions should focus on the well-being of teachers when job demands cause teacher burnout (Carroll et al., 2022; Kaiser & Thompson, 2021), and principals should intervene to reduce burnout by discussing job demands with the teachers (Jeon et al., 2022; Russell & Liggans, 2020). Researchers found that teachers' working conditions influence teachers' job satisfaction (Baroudi et al., 2022; Carroll et al., 2022) because there is an association between school principal support and teachers' job demands (Maas et al., 2022). Researchers recommended principals' support when teachers experience teaching problems (Bukko et al., 2021; Eğinli, 2021; Zilka et al., 2019) and found that principals' assistance reduces teachers' job-related stress (Hwang, 2022) when principals foster collaboration (Carroll et al., 2021); otherwise, pressure from school leaders increases teachers' levels of stress (Fox et al., 2020).

Review of the Literature

I conducted a literature review pertaining to the content of the position paper. The main content of the position paper is that K-12 principals should apply their LPs to (a) support teachers who experience burnout by providing feedback, (b) retain teachers by resolving teachers' work-related issues, (c) create a positive work environment for teachers, and (d) clearly communicate the teaching curriculum expectations to teachers. I used Google Scholar and ProQuest to search for peer-reviewed journal articles. I used the following search terms: *position paper*, *support teachers who experience burnout*, *providing feedback*, *retaining teachers*, *resolving teachers' work-related issues*, *creating*

a positive work environment for teachers, communicating the teaching curriculum expectations to teachers, instructional leadership practices, supporting teachers, experiencing burnout, public school district, perceptions of K–12 school principals, instructional leadership practices, leadership theory, functions engaged by the principal, the activities performed by the principal, and the procedures and practices of the school organization. I found peer-reviewed journal articles published between 2018 and 2023.

My position paper is based on research evidence after studying the problem of K-12 school principals inconsistently implementing instructional leadership practices to support teacher who experience burnout. Positions inform policies. Siddiki and Curley (2022) noted that policymakers conceptualize policy design in the policy process to define and write the content of the policy. According to Desouza and Lin (2011), decision makers set clear goals after gathering information related to a problem and plan alternatives to meet goals. Policymakers use evidence-driven policy design based on accurate information referring to research findings to improve organizational performance (Desouza & Lin). "Evidence should appear in a generic form yet still be easy to interpret by diverse stakeholders" (Desouza & Lin, p. 7). According to Brown and Duguid (2001), policymakers use strategic coordination focusing on individual motivation to achieve organizational goals and success. The content of a policy is used for learning and knowledge, and the benefit of knowledge is to coordinate success within an organization (Brown & Duguid). According to Fang et al. (2010), the learning process involves individuals who learn from others in an organization "because most of an individual's contacts are also contacts of each other" (p. 633).

The content of the position paper is in line with the findings of researchers who explored the instructional LPs of school principals (Modeste et al., 2022) who establish clear school goals as educational leaders in teaching and learning (Karacabey et al., 2020). One component of this position paper is that school principals apply the instructional leadership theory to support teachers who experienced burnout, they have common instructional leadership experiences (Ma & Marion, 2021; Modeste et al., 2022). A second component of this position paper is in line with the findings of scholars who reported that the recommendation on LPs can help school principals support teachers (Bezzina & Farrugia, 2022; Brunsting, 2022; Farmer, 2020) because teacher burnout is caused by stress (Fotre, 2022; Grant & Drew, 2022) and teachers' work-related conditions are linked with burnout (Sneba & Maheswari, 2020). A position paper on principals' instructional leadership practices about burnout may help school administrators to reduce burnout (Luthar, 2020) because there is a correlation between the managerial commitment and work-related burnout of secondary school teachers (Habib, 2020). A position paper on principal instructional leadership practices may help school administrators to decrease teacher burnout (Daniels et al., 2020) and teacher attrition (Madigan & Kim, 2021).

A third component of this position paper is in line with researchers who recommended support for K-12 principals with implementing instructional practices to support teacher who experience burnout. Additionally, to recommend ways for school principals to provide pedagogical expertise to teachers for teachers' professional growth. According to Cece et al. (2022), principals' support of teachers influences secondary

teachers' burnout, and secondary school teachers reported that support from the school principal was associated with teacher burnout. Cece et al. recommended school principals should support teachers by providing pedagogical expertise to teachers during the school year. Zilka et al. (2019) reported that principal support enhances teachers' professional growth because principal support influences teacher burnout. The findings concluded that teachers believe support from the principal shapes their mindset regarding teaching growth.

A fourth component of this position paper is in line with researchers' recommendation on how school principals may influence teachers' dialog on instructional practices. Eğinli (2021) conducted a quantitative study to understand principal support and teacher retention because principals' lack of support influences teachers' confidence and principal leadership should include supporting teachers.

According to Eğinli, the school principal should provide teachers with individual support because principal support increases the levels of teacher retention. There should be no absence of principal support when teachers experience teaching problems. Similar to the recommendations made by Eğinli, Maas et al. (2022) maintained that principals' support is needed to help teachers remain at schools. Hwang (2022) found that mathematics teachers' stress is influencing teachers' dialogic instruction and those mathematics teachers who had high stress were less likely to implement dialogic instruction. Teachers with unsupportive leaders are likely to have low job satisfaction because stress is associated with burnout (Hwang, 2022).

A fifth component of this position paper is in line with researchers who found that a strategy to reduce teacher burnout is for school leaders to support teachers to improve self-efficacy (Zheng, 2022) because school leaders' support of teachers increases teachers' job satisfaction (Ghanbari & Majooni, 2022). School leaders' support is a factor influencing teachers' stress, and collaboration between teachers and leaders is needed (Carroll et al., 2021). Similar to the studies of Carroll et al. (2021), Ghanbari and Majooni (2022), and Zheng (2022), school leaders should support teachers by using strategies to help teachers improve their well-being by coping with stress (Froehlich et al., 2022).

A sixth component of this position paper is in line with researchers who found that school principals resolved work-related issues with the teachers. Scholars reported that teacher burnout is caused by work-related stress (Bartosiewicz et al., 2022; Mahmood, 2020; Maric et al., 2021). Hussain et al. (2021) stated workload stress affects the performance of elementary school teachers, and Ozturk et al. (2021) wrote that work-related issues affect middle school teachers' burnout. According to Doherty (2020), school principals should address work-related issues, which is a critical factor affecting teachers' decisions to leave the teaching profession. Anama-Green (2020) said teachers leave the profession within the first 5 years of teaching due to work-related burnout.

A seventh component of this position paper is in line with researchers who found that principals may retain teachers by resolving teachers' work-related issues. School leaders should support teachers whose work-related demands are high, and job demands refer to work-related stressors associated with teacher burnout and as a result school leaders should strive to improve teachers' working conditions (Jeon et al., 2022). In a

study conducted by Zheng (2022), college English language teachers' job burnout was influenced by work-related issues, and the correlation between college English language teachers' job burnout and self-efficacy is negative. School leaders who study burnout should take into consideration work-related stressors and lack of leaders' support, and a strategy to reduce teacher burnout is for leaders to support teachers to improve selfefficacy (Zheng, 2022). School leaders should use interventions to support teachers to improve their self-efficacy resulting in the reduction of teacher burnout (Zheng, 2022). Ghanbari and Majooni (2022) agreed with the findings of Zheng and wrote that school leadership is a factor influencing teacher burnout, and toxic leadership negatively affects work-related issues. Like the findings of Zheng and Ghanbari and Majooni, teachers of English as foreign language experience burnout because the teaching profession is stressful, and teacher burnout affects both teaching and learning because teachers' workload has the strongest effect on burnout (Cheng, 2022). School leaders should resolve teachers' heavy work-related issues and provide feedback to teachers (Cheng, 2022). Carroll et al. (2022) explored work-related stress and burnout and found that teachers in rural and remote areas were very stressed and considered to leave the teaching profession. School leaders should notice that teachers' well-being is a predictor of stress and should use interventions to target the well-being of teachers as an attempt to reduce teachers' stress (Carroll et al.).

An eighth component of this position paper is in line with researchers who found that school leaders apply LPs to create a positive work environment for teachers. The teaching environment influences teacher retention (Eğinli, 2021) and teachers experience

stress in the teaching environment (Maas et al., 2022). Zincirli (2021) wrote that teachers' job satisfaction perception is a predictor of burnout. Supporting a school environment is conducive to student academic achievement (Tookes et al., 2020). According to Zilka et al. (2019), when the teaching environment lacks principal support, teachers experience burnout. Researchers found that principals should create and support the teaching environment at schools via actions such as honesty and reliability by clearly communicating with teachers with respect and integrity (Bukko et al., 2021). Eğinli noted, "collaborative principal-teacher relationship can create a safe work environment that involves feelings of satisfaction, trust, open communication, and collegiality" (p. 914). In the study of Carroll et al. (2021), teachers reported stress in the teaching environment and the need to find strategies to reduce stress.

A ninth component of this position paper is in line with researchers who found that school leaders should clearly communicate the teaching curriculum expectations to teachers. Scholars reported that communication among teachers and principals is necessary regarding the teaching curriculum expectations. According to Darling-Hammond et al. (2020), principals should support teachers to focus om student learning the curriculum. Brandmo et al. (2021) noted school principals should apply LPs to prioritize school goals, and Reyneke (2020) acknowledged that school principals should manage instructional programs. According to Cece et al. (2022), school principals should provide pedagogical expertise to teachers regarding the curriculum. Carroll et al. (2021) recommended the need for better systems to support teachers because school leadership influences teachers' work experience regarding expectations such as the curriculum.

According to Carroll et al., school leaders should foster collaboration between teachers and leaders, and should have more reasonable curriculum expectations of teachers. In a study conducted by Fox et al. (2020), secondary special education teachers reported stress is related to academic standards such as the curriculum, and school leaders' expectations for teachers to cover certain amounts of the curriculum put pressure on the teachers. The secondary special education teachers in Fox et al.'s study said that standards-based curriculum and the pressure from school leaders increased their levels of stress. Carroll et al. (explored work-related stress and burnout and found that teachers in rural and remote areas were very stressed and considered leaving the teaching profession because the curriculum is a primary factor of teachers experiencing burnout. School leaders should notice that teachers' well-being is a predictor of stress and should use interventions to target the well-being of teachers as an attempt to support teachers to reduce their stress associated to the curriculum (Carroll et al., 2021).

School Principals Should Support Teachers

Bukko et al. (2021) wrote principals should support teachers to retain them in schools. Teachers need the support of school principals by creating collegial relationships and supporting teachers via feedback on individual teacher needs (Kaiser & Thompson, 2021). School leaders' lack of support has a strong effect on teacher burnout (Cheng, 2022) and teachers need support because support increases teachers' job satisfaction (Ghanbari & Majooni, 2022). There should be no absence of principal support when teachers experience teaching problems (Eğinli, 2021) because teachers believe support from the principal shapes their mindset regarding teaching growth (Zilka, 2019).

According to Cece et al. (2022), principal's support of teachers influences secondary teachers' burnout, and secondary school teachers reported that support from the school principal was associated with teacher burnout (Cece et al., 2022). Eğinli (2021) conducted a quantitative study to understand principal support and teacher retention and found principals' lack of support influences teachers' confidence and principal leadership should include supporting teachers. According to Eğinli, the school principal should be providing teachers with individual support because principal support increases the levels of teacher retention, and suggested no absence of principal support when teachers experience teaching problems.

Leadership support, such as school principal support affects mathematics teachers' stress because principals' support enhances teachers' professional growth and influences teacher burnout concluding that teachers believe support from the principal shapes their mindset regarding teaching growth (Zilka et al., 2019). According to Hwang (2022), mathematics teachers' stress is influencing teachers' dialogic instruction because mathematics teachers with high stress were less likely to implement dialogic instruction, and teachers with unsupportive leaders are likely to have low job satisfaction. Teacher stress is associated with burnout and principals should help teachers reduce teachers' job-related stress (Hwang).

According to Carroll et al. (2021), external and internal factors affect teacher burnout based on the perceptions of teachers interviewed. Carroll et al. recommended the need for better systems to support teachers because school leaders' support is a factor influencing teachers' stress. School leaders' expectation of teachers has been cited as

source of stress for teachers, and school leaders should foster collaboration between teachers and leaders and should have more reasonable expectations of teachers because trust between teachers and principals is a mediating factor influencing teacher burnout (Carroll et al., 2021).

A position paper will provide recommendations for district leaders to support school leaders with implementing instructional practices that will decrease teacher burnout, retain teachers, establish school leaders and teacher relationships, and support school leaders on how to provide effective feedback in order to improve teachers' instructional practices.

School Principals Should Create a Positive Work Environment for Teachers

Principals' instructional leadership practices influence teacher retention (Eğinli, 2021). Principals should create and support the teaching environment at schools via actions such as honesty and reliability (Bukko et al., 2021). According to Zilka et al. (2019), when the teaching environment is unsupportive by the principal's support, teachers experience burnout. According to Eğinli, "collaborative principal-teacher relationship, can create a safe work environment that involves feelings of satisfaction, trust, open communication, and collegiality" (p. 914). Maas et al. (2022) stated teachers experience stress in the teaching environment and principal's support is needed to help teachers remain at schools. In the study of Carroll et al. (2021), teachers reported stress in the teaching environment and the need to find strategies to reduce stress.

A position paper can provide district school leaders with recommendations of how to create a positive work environment where teachers thrive and experience less burnout and more job satisfaction. In a positive work environment, teachers are more likely to take risk and be acceptable to feedback provided by school leaders (Mass et al., 2022).

School Principals Should Clearly Communicate Curriculum Expectations

Research found that the curriculum is a primary factor of teachers experiencing burnout, and school principals should support teachers by providing pedagogical expertise to teachers regarding the curriculum (Carroll et al., 2022). According to Carroll et al. (2021), school leadership influences teachers' work experience regarding expectations such as the curriculum. In a study conducted by Fox et al. (2020), secondary special education teachers reported stress is related to academic standards such as the curriculum. Fox et al. wrote that school leaders' expectation for teachers to cover certain amounts of the curriculum put pressure on the teachers. The secondary special education teachers in the study of Fox et al. said that standards-based curriculum and the pressure from school leaders increased their levels of stress.

A position paper will provide recommendations for district leaders to support school leaders with comprehending the components of the curriculum. Additionally, provide recommendations on how to support leaders with structures of how to utilize the curriculum to develop high-quality lesson to meet the needs of every student. A position paper will provide recommendations for district leaders to support school leaders with their leadership instructional practices to identify differentiated interventions based on the needs of teachers who experience burnout. Finally, a position paper will provide recommendations on how to track and monitor data and utilize it to determine

educational support to principals need to improve their instructional leadership practices to support teachers who experience burnout.

The Teaching Profession is Stressful

According to (Brunsting et al., 2022), the profession of teaching is stressful. Work related stress has resulted in teachers leaving the profession world-wide (Carroll et al., 2021). Cheng (2022) found that when teachers experience work-related stress due to the lack of principal support, resulting teachers experiencing burnout.

Teachers who experience burnout and stress can also affect student outcome. A position paper can provide recommendations that district leaders can use to improve K-12 school leaders' perceptions regarding instructional leadership to support teachers who experience burnout. The content in the position paper will also provide recommendations for district leaders to support school leaders with implementing instructional practices to retain teachers.

Teacher Burnout is Linked to Self-Efficacy

School leaders' instructional leadership practices are a determining factor to decreasing or increasing the number of teachers who experience burnout (Ghanbari & Majooni, 2022). Teacher burnout affects both teaching and learning (Cheng, 2022). School leaders should identify preventative measures to decrease teacher burnout (Kruse & Edge, 2023).

The social cognitive theory posts that teacher's self-efficacy is linked to teacher burnout, and Zheng (2022) found a correlation between college English language teachers' job burnout and self-efficacy is negative. A position paper will provide district

leaders with recommendations to support school leaders with strategies to identify preventative measures to improve instructional leadership practices to support teachers who experience burnout and to improve self-efficacy.

Teaching Work-Related Issues Cause Burnout

School leaders should be equipped with instructional leadership practices to support teachers who experience burnout due to work-related high demands (Kaiser and Thompson, 2021). According to (Russell and Liggans, 2020), reducing job demands could help to reduce burnout. Early childhood special education teachers who work with students with disabilities have additional responsibilities that cause burnout (Jeon et al., 2022).

According to Jeon et al. (2022), job demands refer to work-related stressors associated with teacher burnout. In a study conducted by Zheng (2022), college English language teachers' job burnout was influenced by work-related issues. School leaders who study burnout should take into consideration work-related stressors and lack of leaders' support (Zheng). According to Baroudi et al. (2022), researchers in the education field have studied the effect of school leaders on teacher burnout. Ghanbari and Majooni (2022) found that toxic leadership influenced teacher burnout. School leaders should resolve teachers' work-related issues because teachers' workload has the strongest effect on burnout (Cheng, 2022). Carroll et al. (2022) surveyed Australian primary teachers to explore their experience of work-related stress and burnout and found that teachers in rural and remote areas were very stressed and considered to leave the teaching profession.

Teacher workload is cited as a source of teacher stress and workload refers to teachingrelated and non-teaching related tasks (Carroll et al.).

A position paper will provide recommendations for district leaders to support school leaders with improving their leadership practices to identify expectations of teachers' workload. Additionally, a position paper will recommend methods to strategically identify ways to decrease the workload to support teachers who experience burnout.

Project Description

A position paper was developed for K–12 school principals to support teachers who experience burnout. The content of the position paper will be presented to K–12 school principals at the study sites to help them to learn new ways to reduce teachers' burnout. The content of the position paper may support positive social change by helping K–12 school principals to better implement their LPs to support teachers who experience burnout to stay in the teaching profession.

Needed Resources, Existing Supports, Barriers, and Solutions

Because this project study was conducted at two public school districts, I will request permission from the two school districts' superintendents to present the content of the position paper to their K–12 school principals. At the study site, K–12 school principals attend meetings at the school board of education at their principals' meetings held each month. I will request permission from the school district representative, at the first school district, responsible for the K–12 school principals' monthly meetings for me to present the content of the position paper to the attendees in the middle of each month. I

will also request permission from the school district representative, at the second school district, responsible for the K-12 school principals' monthly meetings for me to present the content of the position paper to the attendees at the end of each month.

I will need approximately 1 hour to present the position paper to the attendees. As a result, a potential barrier could be the agendas of the K–12 school principals' meetings at the boards of education. A potential solution will be to present the first half of the position paper on a date and time convenient to the attendees and the second half of the position paper on a following date and time convenient to the attendees.

Project Implementation and Timetable

There are two public school districts that comprise the study site. Each school district has 12 K–12 school principals' meetings per year held at the school district boardroom. At the first school district, K–12 school principals' monthly meetings are held in the middle of each month. At the second school district, K–12 school principals' monthly meetings are held at the end of each month. I developed the project timetable to present the position paper to K–12 school principals at their monthly meetings. In the academic year 2023-2024, I will present the position paper once at each school district. The date and time of my presentation depends on the representatives responsible for the K–12 school principals' monthly meetings.

Roles and Responsibilities

I will present the position paper once to K-12 school principals at each study site. My role will be a leading role to present the content of the position paper to the attendees. My responsibilities include the explanation of the content of the position paper to the

superintendents of the two school districts and to the attendees based on my research. I will encourage the superintendents of the two school districts to review the position paper.

Project Evaluation Plan

After presenting the position paper recommendations, K-12 school principals will complete a reflective survey (see Appendix C). The survey will include four questions. Questions 1 and 2 ask school leaders to name the leadership practices that they have consistently implemented and to explain whether the practices reduced teacher' burnout. Question 3 asks school principals to identify which leadership practices recommendations do they feel will be more beneficial in supporting teachers who experience burnout. Question 4 asks school leaders to identify and list leadership practices recommendations that they will need intense support to ensure that they are equipped to support teachers who experience burnout.

Project Implications

Additional research will be needed in order to determine what is effective and what is ineffective to improve principals' instructional leadership practices to support teachers who experience burnout. Research forthgoing will require school district leaders (Curriculum Academic Coach, Principals' Professional Development Trainers, Evaluators, etc.) along with K-12 principals and other stakeholders. This goal-oriented research should aim to indicate if the newly suggested recommendations were effective or ineffective. One barrier to conducting further research will be to identify specific

instructional leadership practice trends, establish goals, and to decide on how the goals will be measured.

Social Change

The content of the position paper may support positive social change by helping K–12 school principals to better implement their LPs to support teachers who experience burnout in order to remain in the teaching profession. Teachers who experience burnout may benefit from the position paper because K–12 school principals may better support the teachers by resolving teachers' work-related issues, creating a positive teaching environment, and communicating curriculum expectations. Senior school district administrators will benefit from this the position paper by reviewing its content and supporting K–12 school principals to identify and support teachers who experience burnout.

Social Change Implications

Giving that the two school districts' K-12 principals' implement the recommended instructional leadership practices, there should be evidence of a decrease in the number of teachers experiencing burnout, an improvement in teacher effectiveness and student achievement, and an increase in the number of teachers remaining in the profession. Teachers could also receive bonuses and promotions. Although, these improvements may take time, the community will be impacted by receiving educated students who are contributors to their communities. Additionally, these improvements could decrease crime, drugs and gang activities resulting in communities being conducive and safe to living, raising families, and owning businesses.

Principals implementing the recommended instructional practices could indicate improvement in teacher effectives. Improving teacher effectiveness could result in improving student attendance and behavior decreasing student absences and out of school suspensions. Finally, parents will not have to face truancy notices due to the lack of student attendance. The time parents have to work to conference with school leaders to re-admit students to class after having been served an out-of-school suspension could decrease.

Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions

In Section 4, I present my reflections and conclusions. I will also present the project's strengths and limitations. Recommendations for alternative approaches are presented. I conclude this section with implications, applications, and directions for future research.

Project Strengths and Limitations

I developed a position paper for K–12 school principals to better implement their LP to support teachers who experience burnout. The content of the position paper is the strength of this project because it is research-based and the two public school districts I collected data from do not have a policy on K–12 school principals supporting teachers who experience burnout. Another strength of the position paper is that it may support positive social change by helping K–12 school principals to better implement their LPs to support teachers who experience burnout to stay in the teaching profession. A further strength of the position paper is the list of recommendations for K–12 school principals to support teachers who experience burnout to stay at the schools.

The first limitation of the position paper is the timeframe to present its content to K–12 school principals at the two different public-school districts during the principals' monthly meetings because their agenda may not allow for my presentation, or the attendees may not be interested in the topic of teacher burnout. The second limitation is the availability of the attendees to be present on the date and time I will present the position paper at their school district. The third limitation is the applicability of the

content of the position paper to other public-school districts in the same county as the two public school districts where I conducted this project.

Recommendations for Alternative Approaches

When investigating problems found in real world settings, consideration of alternative approaches to addressing and potentially those problems is a key element of producing improvement. In the case of this study, an alternative approach is to allow teacher–teacher collaboration. Another alternative approach is to provide sufficient opportunity and penalty-free space for teachers to express concerns linked to burnout. Understanding K–12 school principals' perspectives about their LPs to support teachers to remain in the teaching profession could help school district leaders to strengthen my position paper.

Scholarship, Project Development and Evaluation, and Leadership and Change

I completed this project study as a novice researcher and used a basic qualitative research design to investigate the phenomenon of the implementation of LPs of K–12 school principals to support teachers who experience burnout. As a novice researcher, I developed a professional researcher—participant working relationship with each participant. I applied my education background and work-related teaching experiences during the data collection and analysis process. I also applied ethical research standards and received IRB approval from Walden University and the study site comprised of two public school districts, to protect the rights of the human participants.

I followed IRB guidelines and learned how to apply for IRB approval from Walden University and from the study site. I will conduct more research studies into

teacher burnout to develop a position paper on K-12 principals instructional leadership practices to support teachers who experience burnout. The content of the position paper may support positive social change by helping K-12 school principals to better implement their LPs to support teachers who experience burnout to stay in the teaching profession.

My leadership role is to present the content of the position paper to the attendees at the study sites and assist the senior school district administrator to implement the position paper. This leadership role is to provide senior school district administrators and K–12 school principals with research-based recommendations to support principals LP to support teachers who experience burnout.

Reflection on Importance of the Work

This research work was important to me because the position paper may help K—12 school principals to better implement their LPs to support teachers who experience burnout to stay at the local schools. As an educational leader, I have learned how to advocate for teachers who experience burnout via conducting research and creating a position paper for educators for the benefit of the students. I am ready to present the position paper to senior school district administrators and K—12 school principals to implement this position paper at the study sites. I completed this EdD project study and learned about qualitative research and how to prepare a position paper. In conclusion, the position paper may positively influence K—12 school principals to support teachers who experience burnout.

Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research

The content of the position paper has implications for the study site because it includes new findings that may be used by K–12 school principals to support teachers who experience burnout. The content of the position paper may be applied by K–12 school principals to support teachers who experience burnout to stay at the schools. K–12 school principals will benefit from reviewing and implementing the position paper to support teachers who experience burnout. The content of the position paper is designed for the study sites and may not be applicable to other public-school districts in the same county where I conducted this project study.

Researchers who wish to replicate my study may use a larger sample. I recommend that researchers interview K–12 school principals and teachers who experience burnout. I also recommend that researchers interview senior school district administrators and teachers who experience burnout. Future researchers may also use quantitative methodology to examine the attrition of teachers who experience burnout.

Conclusion

This position paper is based on my own research and designed for K–12 school principals at the study site. By implementing this position paper, K–12 school principals will be in a better position to support teachers who experience burnout by providing instructional feedback, retain teachers by resolving teachers' work-related issues, create a positive work environment for teachers, and clearly communicate the teaching curriculum expectations to teachers. The focus of the position paper is on supporting teachers who experience burnout and encouraging K–12 school principals to support

teachers who experience burnout. The position paper may encourage senior school district administrators to help K–12 school principals to support teachers who experience burnout at the study site. This position paper adds new knowledge to the field of education regarding the LPs of K–12 school principals. The position paper may support positive social change by helping K–12 school principals to better implement their LPs to support teachers who experience burnout to stay in the teaching profession.

References

- Abu-Hilal, M. M., Aldhafri, S., Kilani, H., Kazem, A., Qaryouti, I., & Alkharusi, H. (2020). Does job value boost self-efficacy and protect against burnout among teachers in Oman? *Journal of Research in Educational Psychology*, *18*(1), 1-26. https://doi.org/10.25115/ejrep.v18i50.2409
- Akin, M. A. (2019). An investigation into teacher burnout in relation to some variables.

 *International Journal of Progressive Education, 15(4), 47-65.

 https://doi.org/10.29329/ijpe.2019.203.4
- Anama-Green, C. (2020). Intrapersonal mindfulness is associated with reduced risk of burnout among Central Appalachian educators. *Explore*, *18*(1), 64–69. https://doi.org/10.10161/j.explore.2020.10.003
- Atmaca, C., Rizaoglu, F., Turkdogan, T., & Yayli, D. (2020). An emotion focused approach in predicting teacher burnout and job satisfaction. *Teacher and Teacher Education*, 90, Article 103025. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2020.103025
- Baroudi, S., Tamim, R., & Hojeij, Z. (2022). A quantitative investigation of intrinsic and extrinsic factors influencing teachers' job satisfaction in Lebanon. *Leadership and Policy in Schools*, 21(2), 127–146.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15700763.2020.1734210

Bartosiewicz, A., Uszczki, E., Zaręba, L., Kuchciak, M., Bobula, G., Dereń, K., & Król,
P. (2022). Assessment of job satisfaction, self-efficacy, and the level of
professional burnout of primary and secondary school teachers in Poland during
the COVID-19 pandemic. *PeerJ*, 10, Article e13349.

https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.13349

- Benita, M., Butler, R., & Shibaz, L. (2018). Outcomes and antecedents of teacher depersonalization: The role of intrinsic orientation for teaching. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 111(6), 1103-1118. https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000328
- Bezzina, C., & Farrugia, M. A. (2022). A leadership typology for professional learning and development. *IUL Research*, *3*(5), 140-150. https://doi.org/10.57568/iulres.v3i5.273
- Bodenheimer, G., & Shuster, S. M. (2019). Emotional labor, teaching and burnout:

 Investigating complex relationships. *Educational Research*, 62(1), 63-76.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00131881.2019.1705868
- Bottiani, J. H., Duran, C. A. K., & Pas, E. T. (2019). Teacher stress and burnout in urban middle schools. Associations with job demands, resources, and effective classroom practices. *Journal of School Psychology*, 77(1), 36–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2019.10.002
- Bozkus, K. (2018). The level of burnout experienced by teachers. *International Journal of Social Sciences and Education Research*, 4(1), 61-67. https://doi.org/10.24289/ijsser.341790
- Brandmo, C., Aas, M., Colbjørnsen, T., & Olsen, R. (2021). Group coaching that promotes self-efficacy and role clarity among school leaders. Scandinavian *Journal of Educational Research*, 65(2), 195–211. https://doi.org/10.1080/00313831.2019.1659406
- Brasfield, M. W., Lancaster, C., & Xu, Y. J. (2019). Wellness as a mitigating factor for

- teacher burnout. *Journal of Education*, *199*(3), 166-178. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022057419864525
- Brown, J. S., & Duguid, P. (2001). Knowledge and organization: A social-practice perspective. *Organization Science* 12(2), 198-213. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.12.2.198.10116
- Brunsting, N. C., Bettini, E., Rock, M. L., Royer, D. J., Common, E. A., Lane, K., Xie, F., Chen, A., & Zeng, F. (2022). Burnout of special educators serving students with emotional-behavioral disorders: A longitudinal study. *Remedial and Special Education*, 43(3), 160-171 https://doi.org/10.1177/07419325211030562
- Bukko, D., Liu, K., & Johnson, A. H. (2021). Principal practices that build and sustain trust: Recommendations from teachers in a high-trust school. *Planning and Changing*, *50*(1-2), 58-74.

 https://education.illinoisstate.edu/downloads/planning/Bukko_50.1-2.pdf
- Butyrina, M., & Pereima, V. (2018). Future teachers training to prevention of occupational burnout syndrome. *Professionalism Pedagogy*, 1(8), 58-67. https://doi.org/10.31865/2414-9292.8(1).2018.153739
- Camacho, D. A., & Parham, B. (2019). Urban teacher challenges: What they are and what we can learn from them. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 85, 160-174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2019.06.014
- Carroll, A., Flynn, L., Sanders-O'Connor, E., Forrest, K., Bower, J., Fynes-Clinton, S., York, A., & Ziaei, M. (2021). In their words: Listening to teachers' perceptions about stress in the workplace and how to address it. *Asia-Pacific Journal of*

- Teacher Education, 49(4), 420-434, https://doi.org/10.1080/1359866X.2020.1789914
- Carroll, A., Forrest, K., Sanders-O'Connor, E., Flynn, L., Bower, J., Fynes-Clinton, S., York, A., & Ziaei, M. (2022). Teacher stress and burnout in Australia: Examining the role of intrapersonal and environmental factors. *Social Psychology of Education*, 25, 441–469, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11218-022-09686-7
- Cece, V., Martinent, G., Guillet-Descas, E., & Lentillon-Kaestner, V. (2022). The predictive role of perceived support from principals and professional identity on teachers' motivation and well-being: A longitudinal study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(11), 6674.

 https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19116674
- Cheng, Y. (2022). Investigating factors responsible for teacher burnout in English as foreign language classes. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 13, 1-4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.876203
- Connelly, L. M. (2016). Trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Medsurg Nursing*, 25(6), 435–436.
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2017). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches*. Sage Publications.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/nha3.2025810.1002/nha3.20258
- Daniels, E., Hondeghem, A., & Heystek, J. (2020). School leaders' and teachers' leadership perceptions: Differences and similarities. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 58(6), 645-660. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEA-11-2019-0199

- Darling-Hammond, L., Flook, L., Cook-Harvey, C., Barron, B., & Osher, D. (2020).

 Implications for educational practice of the science of learning and development.

 Applied Developmental Science, 24(2), 97–140.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2018.1537791
- Desouza, K., & Lin, Y. (2011). Towards evidence-driven policy design: Complex adaptive systems and computational modeling. *The Innovation Journal*, *16*(1).
- Doherty, J. (2020). A systematic review of literature on teacher attrition and school-related factors that affect it. *Teacher Education Advancement Network Journal*, 12(1), 75-84. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1276033.pdf
- Ebersold, S., Rahm, T., & Heise, E. (2019). Autonomy support and well-being in teachers: Differential mediations through basic psychological need satisfaction and frustration. *Social Psychology of Education*, 22, 921-942. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11218-019-09499-1
- Eğinli, İ. (2021). In search of keeping good teachers: Mediators of teacher commitment to the profession. *Journal of Language and Linguistic Studies*, 17(2), 911-936. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1288312.pdf
- Elyashiv, R. A. (2019). School and district leaders talk about teacher attrition. *Journal of Curriculum and Teaching*, 8(3), 160-170. https://doi.org/10.5430/jct.v8n3p160
- Fang, C., Lee, J., & Schilling, M. A. (2010). Balancing exploration and exploitation through structural design: The isolation of subgroups and organizational learning. *Organization Science*, 21 (3), 625-642. https://doi.org/10.1287/orsc.1090.0468
- Farmer, D. (2020). Teacher attrition: The impacts of stress. *International Journal for*

- Educators, 87(1), 41-50. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1288312.pdf
- Ford, T. G., Olsen, J., Khojasteh, J., Ware, J., & Urick, A. (2019). The effects of leader support for teacher psychological needs on teacher burnout, commitment, and intent to leave. *Journal of Educational Administration*, *57*(6), 615-634.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/JEA-09-2018-0815
- Fotre, T. M. (2022). The impact of social-emotional curriculum training on Oregon 4th-8th Grade School Teachers' Emotional Intelligence.

 https://digitalcommons.georgefox.edu/edd/189/
- Fox, H. B., Tuckwiller, E. D., Kutscher, E., & Walter, H. L. (2020). What makes teachers well? A mixed-methods study of special education teacher well-being. *Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies in Education*, 9, 223-248.
 https://www.ojed.org/index.php/jise/article/view/2170/1132
- Froehlich, D. E., Morinaj, J., Guias, D., & Hobusch, U. (2022). Newly qualified teachers' well-being during the covid-19 pandemic: Testing a social support intervention through design-based research. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 13, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.873797
- Genc, E. (2020). The effects of ethical leadership perceptions and personal characteristics on professional burnout levels of teachers. *Journal of Management*, 11(5), 70-80. https://doi.org/10.29141/2218-5003-2020-11-5-6
- Ghanbari, S., & Majooni, H. (2022). Investigating the relationship between toxic leadership and teacher burnout due to the mediating role of organizational obstruction and silence. *Strategic Research on Social Problems in Iran, 11*(1), 55-

- 80. https://doi.org/10.22108/srspi.2022.132953.1790
- Grant, D. G., & Drew, D. E. (2022). Reimagining Instructional Leadership: Integrated Leadership Functions Predicting Teacher Effectiveness and Teacher Morale.

 Leadership and Policy in Schools, 1-24.*

 https://doi.org/10.1080/15700763.2022.2140295
- Grissom, J. A., Bartanen, B., & Mitani, H. (2019). Principal sorting and the distribution of principal quality. *AERA Open*, 5(2), 233-285. https://doi.org/10.1177/2332858419850094
- Gui, G. E. (2019). Teacher attrition and school leaders' capacity for leading, practices and behaviors -A comparative study. *European Journal of Social Science Education and Research*, 6(1), 111-112. https://doi.org/10.26417/ejser.v6i1.p111-122
- Gunes, C., & Uysal, H. H. (2019). The relationship between burnout and organizational socialization among English language teachers. *Journal of Language and Linguistic Studies*, 15(1), 339-361. https://doi.org/10.17263/jils.547758
- Habib, H. (2020). Organizational commitment among secondary school teachers in relation to job burnout. *International Journal of Education*, 8(3), 72-76. https://doi.org/10.34293/education.v8i3.2760
- Hallinger, P., & Murphy, J. F. (1985). Assessing the instructional management behavior of principals. *The Elementary School Journal*, 86(2), 217–247. https://doi.org/10.1086/461445
- Herman, K. C., Sebastian, J., Eddy, C. L., & Reinke, W. M. (2023). School leadership,

- climate, and professional isolation as predictors of special education teachers' stress and coping profiles. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*, *31*(2), 120–131. https://doi.org/10.1177/10634266221148974
- Huk, O., Terjesen, M. D., & Cherkasova, L. (2018). Predicting teacher burnout as a function of school characteristics and irrational beliefs. *Psychology in the Schools*, 56(5), 792-808. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.22233
- Hunter, S. B., & Springer, M. G. (2022). Critical feedback characteristics, teacher human capital, and early-career teacher performance: A mixed-methods analysis.
 Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis,
 https://doi.org/10.3102/01623737211062913.
- Hussain, W., Nadeem, M. T., Kaynat, H., Shahzad, A., & Urooj, N. (2021). Correlation between organizational stress and workload stress effect the academic performance of elementary school teachers. *Ilkogretim Online*, 20(2), 1165-1170. https://doi.org/10.17051/IIkonline.2021.02.131
- Hwang, S. (2022). Profiles of Mathematics teachers' job satisfaction and stress and their association with dialogic instruction. *Sustainability*, 14(11), 6925-6925. https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/14/11/6925#
- Iancu, A. E., Rusu, A., Maroiu, C., Pacurar, R., & Maricutoiu, L. P. (2018). The effectiveness of interventions aimed at reducing teacher burnout: A meta-analysis. *Educational Psychology Review*, 30(2), 373-396. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-017-9420-8
- Jensen, M., & Solheim, O. (2018). Exploring associations between supervisory support,

- teacher burnout and classroom emotional climate: The moderating role of pupil teacher ratio. *Journal of Experimental Educational Psychology*, 40(3), 367-388. https://doi.org/10.1080/01443410.2019.1673881
- Jeon, H.-J., Diamond, L., McCartney, C., & Kwon, K.-A. (2022). Early childhood special education teachers' job burnout and psychological stress, *Early Education and Development*, 33(8), 1364-1382. https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2021.1965395
- Kaiser, F. J., & Thompson, R. (2021). Slowing the burn: Principal leadership supports to reduce attrition. *School Leadership Review*, 16(1), Article 6. https://scholarworks.sfasu.edu/slr/vol16/iss1/6
- Karacabey, M. F., Bellibaş, M. Ş., & Adams, D. (2020). Principal leadership and teacher professional learning in Turkish schools: Examining the mediating effects of collective teacher efficacy and teacher trust. *Educational Studies*.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/03055698.2020.1749835
- Kruse, S., & Edge, K. (2023), Is it just me? The organizational implications of individual and collective burnout in schools, *Journal of Educational Administration*, 61(3), 272-286. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEA-10-2022-0187
- Lawrence, D. F., Loi, N. M., & Gudex, B. W. (2019). Understanding the relationship between work intensification and burnout in secondary teachers. *Teachers and Teaching*, 25(2), 189-199. https://doi.org/10.1080/13540602.2018.1544551
- Lorenzo, A, Fraccaroli, F, Castelli, L, Marcionetti, J, Crescentini, A, Balducci, C & van Dick, R 2018, 'How to mobilize social support against workload and burnout: The role of organizational identification', TEACHING AND TEACHER

- EDUCATION, vol. 69, pp. 154–167, viewed 5 December 2023,

 https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=shib&db=edswss
 &AN=000418218200015&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Luthar, S. (2020). Trauma-informed schools: Supporting educators as they support the children. *International Journal of School & Educational Psychology*, 8(2), 147-157. https://doi.org/10.1080/21683603.2020.1721385
- Ma, X., & Marion, R. (2021). Exploring how instructional leadership affects teacher efficacy: A multilevel analysis. *Educational Management Administration* & *Leadership*, 49(1), 188-207. https://doi.org/10.1177/1741143219888742
- Maas, J., Schoch, S., Scholz, U., Rackow, P., Schüler, J., Wegner, M., & Keller, R.
 (2022). School principals' social support and teachers' basic need satisfaction:
 The mediating role of job demands and job resources. *Social Psychology of Education*, 25(6):1545-1562. https://doi.org/10.5167/uzh-225062
- Mahmood, N. (2020). Burnout and its predictors: Testing a model among public school teachers. *Pakistan Journal of Psychological Research*, 35(2), 355-372. http://doi.org/10.33824/JPR.2020.35.2.19
- Madigan, D. J. & Kim, L. K. (2021). Towards an understanding of teacher attrition: A meta-analysis of burnout, job satisfaction, and teachers' intentions to quit.
 Teaching and Teacher Education, 105, 1-14.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2021.103425
- Maestre, F. T., Delgado-Baquerizo, M., Jeffries, T. C., Eldridge, D. J., Ochoa, V., Gozalo, B., Quero, J. L., García-Gómez, M., Gallardo, A., Ulrich, W., Bowker,

- M. A., Arredondo, T., Barraza-Zepeda, C., Bran, D., Florentino, A., Gaitán, J., Gutiérrez, J. R., Huber-Sannwald, E., Jankju, M., ... Singh, B. K. (2015). Increasing aridity reduces soil microbial diversity and abundance in global drylands. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *112*(51), 15684-15689. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1516684112
- Maric, N., Majcevic-Rajcevic, S., Maksimovic, N., & Bulat, P. (2021). Professional stress and burnout syndrome in teachers: Are there differences among the Republic of Srpska Regions? https://doi.org/10.5937/scriptamed52-29174
- Mattar, D. (2012). "Instructional leadership in Lebanese public schools." *Educational management administration & leadership 40*(4), 509-531.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1741143212438222
- Merriam, S. B. (2009). Qualitative research: A guide to De sign and Implementation.

 Jossey-Bass.
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2016). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. Jossey-Bass.
 - $\underline{https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/waldenu/detail.action?docID=2089475}$

https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/waldenu/detail.action?docID=2089475

- Meyer, A., Richter, D., & Hartung-Beck, V. (2022). The relationship between principal leadership and teacher collaboration: Investigating the mediating effect of teachers' collective efficacy. *Educational Management Administration* & *Leadership*, 50(4), 593-612. https://doi.org/10.1177/1741143220945698
- Modeste, M. E., Pavlakis, A. E., & Nguyen, C. (2022). Theory amid policy and practice:

A typology of theory use in educational leadership scholarship. *Journal of Research on Leadership Education*, *17*(1), 55-89. https://doi.org/10.1177/1942775120941904

- O'Brennan, L., Pas, E., Bradshaw, C., & Reschly, A. (2019). Multilevel examination of burnout among high school staff: Importance of staff and school factors. *School Psychology Review*, 46(2), 165-176. https://doi.org/10.17105/spr-2015-0019.v46-2
- Ozturk, M., Bulut, M. B., & Yildiz, M. (2021). Predictors of teacher burnout in middle school education: School culture and self-efficacy. *Studia Psycholohica*, *63*(1), https://doi.org/10.31577/sp.2021.01.811
- Pendola, A. (2022, June 16). Defining the labor market of principals in Texas: The relationship between turnover and selection. https://doi.org/10.31235/osf.io/7jzak
- Perrone, F., Player, D., & Youngs, P. (2019). Administrative climate, early career teacher burnout, and turnover. *Journal of School Leadership*, 29(3), 191-209. https://doi.org/10.1177/1052684619836823
- Reyneke, R. P. (2020). Increasing resilience, lowering risk: teachers' use of the circle of courage in the classroom. *Perspectives in Education*, *38*(1), 144–162. https://doi.org/10.18820/2519593X/pie.v38i1.11
- Rachmawati, Y., & Suyanto, S. (2021). The effect of principals' competencies on teachers' job satisfaction and work commitment. *Participatory Educational Research (PER)*,8(1), 362-378. https://doi.org/10.17275/per.21.21.8.1
- Ravitch, S. M., & Carl, N. M. (2016). Qualitative research: Bridging the conceptual,

- theoretical, and Methodological. SAGE Publication
- Robinson, S. (2018). Teacher evaluations: Why it matters and how we can do better.

 Frontline Education. https://frontlineeducation.com/teacher-evaluation/
- Russell, M. B., & Liggans, G. L. (2020). Burnout: Examining the effects of job characteristics across extension disciplines. *Journal of Extension*, 58(1). https://www.joe.org/joe/2020february/a3.php
- Saldaña, J. (2016). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers* (3rd ed). SAGE Publications.
- Shaalvik, E. M., & Shaalvik, S. (2020). Still motivated to teach? A study of school context variables, stress and job satisfaction among teachers in senior high school. Social Psychology Education, 20(1), 15-37. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11218-016-9363-9
- Shaheen, F., & Mahmood, N. (2018). Development and validation of emotional burnout scale (EBS) for teachers. *Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 28(1). http://pu.edu.pk/images/journal/doap/PDF-FILES/08_v28_1_18.pdf
- Shaheen, F., & Mahmood, N. (2020). Burnout and its predictors: Testing a model among public school teachers. *Pakistan Journal of Psychological Research*, *35*(2), 355-372. https://doi.org/10.33824/PJPR.2020.35.2.19
- Schaak, D. D. (2020). When fulfillment is not enough: Early childhood teacher occupational burnout and turnover intentions from job demands and resource perspectives. *Early Education & Development*, 31(7), 1011-1030. https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2020.1791648

- Shrestha, M., & Bhattarai, P. C. (2022). Contribution of Job satisfaction to organizational citizenship behavior: A Survey of the school teachers of Nepal. *Journal of School Administration Research and Development*, 7(1), 36-49. https://doi.org/10.32674/jsard.v7i1.2165
- Siddiki, S., & Curley, C. (2022). Conceptualizing policy design in the policy process.

 Policy & Politics, 50(1), 117-135.

 https://doi.org/10.1332/030557321X16346727541396
- Skaalvik, C. (2020). School principal self-efficacy for instructional leadership: Relations with engagement, emotional exhaustion and motivation to quit. *Social Psychology Education*, 23(1), 479-498. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11218-020-09544-4
- Sliskovic, A., Buric, I., & Soric, I. (2018). The relations between principal support and work engagement and burnout: Testing the role of teachers' emotions and educational level. *Journal of Psychology*, 64(1), 203-215.

 https://doi.org/10.3233/WOR-192987
- Sneba, K., & Maheswari, G. S. (2020). Occupational stress, burnout and work performance of government schoolteachers in Port Blair, Andaman and Nicobar Islands. *Journal of Xi'an University of Architecture Technology, 12*(2), 2534-2543. http://xajzkjdx.cn/gallery/206-feb2020.pdf
- Tookes, G. D., Aly, E. R., & Avant, I. M. (2020). A study on the correlation between school administrators' perceptions of school discipline policies, transformational leadership, and student achievement. *International Journal of Educational Organization & Leadership*, 27(2), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.18848/2329-1656

- Toom, A. (2018). School culture, leadership and relationships matter. *Teachers and Teaching*, 24(7), 745-748. https://doi.org/10.1080/13540602.2018.1503855
- Yin, R. (2018). Case study research: Design and methods (6th ed.). SAGE Publications https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=shib&db=edb&AN=117743512&site=eds-live&scope=site
- Zilka, A., Grinshtain, Y., & Bogler, R. (2019). Fixed or growth: Teacher perceptions of factors that shape mindset. *Professional Development in Education*, 48, 149-165. https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2019.1689524
- Zincirli, M. (2021). A hypothetical model for the relationship between teachers' job satisfaction, burnout and perceptions of individual performance. *International Online Journal of Education and Teaching (IOJET)*, 8(2), 1190-1205. https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0716-6794
- Zheng, Y. (2022). A review of burnout in college English teachers in China. *Front.*Psychol. 13, 884304. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.884304

Appendix A: Position Paper

Background of Existing Problem

The local setting for this project study was two public school districts where K-12 principals were inconsistently implementing instructional leadership practices to support teachers who experienced burnout. Teacher burnout was often the result of work-related issues such as emotional fatigue, depersonalization, personal achievement, as well as their decision to leave the profession. According to (Rachmawati & Suyanto, 2021), principals' competencies of instructional leadership practices to support teachers are key factors to teachers experiencing burnout, becoming emotionally fatigue, depersonalized, stressed, and choosing to leave the profession. It is important to note that the superintendents of the study sites compiled a yearly staffing report revealing that teachers who experience burnout are leaving the school districts in large numbers every academic year, which is more than 45% of teachers who have left the teaching profession in the past 5 years. Therefore, my position is that teacher burnout threatens the stability of the education environment, and it is incumbent upon the school administrators to implement research-based leadership practices for combating teacher burnout. When teacher burnout is enhanced through effective research-based leadership practices, teacher retention increases, student instruction improves, and school climate and culture strengthen.

Summary of Findings

All K-12 school principals who had been working at the study sites for at least 3 academic years and were state-certified were invited to participate in this study and 10 K-12 principals agreed to be interviewed for my study. According to these principals,

feedback conversations with teachers regarding instructional practices are helpful to identify teacher burnout, to prevent teacher depersonalization, to adequately support teachers, and to impact teachers' job satisfaction. The 10 participants were able to retain teachers who experienced burnout by resolving one-on-one teachers' work-related issues. According to the study participants, school principals may prevent teacher burnout by creating a positive work environment that leads to a decrease in their stress, which often can lead to their burn out. The study participants also noted the importance of clearly communicating curricular expectations, the absence of which can lead to teacher stress and low professional performance.

Evidence from the Literature Review

An exhaustive search of recent, peer-reviewed literature on the topic of principals' instructional leadership practices to support teachers who experience burnout was conducted. A frequent topic of the literature is that leadership instructional practices are often an organizational concern for school principals and teachers (Maric et al., 2021). Stress and emotional exhaustion can cause teacher burnout with teachers leaving the teaching profession (Brunsting et al., 2022; Fotre, 2022; Grant & Drew, 2022). Principals noted their struggle to decrease teacher burnout (Meyer et al., 2022; Shrestha & Bhattarai, 2022). School principals should be collegial and instructional leaders (Herman et al., 2023) and clearly communicate with teachers with respect and integrity in an effort to decrease teacher attrition (Madigan & Kim, 2021).

Principals who consistently implement instructional leadership practices to support teachers who experience burnout are more than likely to remain in the teaching

profession (Bezzina & Farrugia, 2022). In contrast, principals who inconsistently implement instructional leadership practices to support teachers who experience burnout are more than likely to leave the profession (Hwang, 2022). It is crucial for school principals to support teachers by providing pedagogical proficiency regarding instructional strategies. By during so, principals will help build the curriculum and trust between teachers and principals which is a mediating factor influencing teacher burnout and (Carroll et al., 2021). An example of a strategy to reduce teacher burnout is for school leaders to support teachers to improve self-efficacy in an attempt to improve teachers' job satisfaction and improve teachers' well-being as they struggle with work-related stress (Froehlich et al., 2022; Ghanbari & Majooni, 2022; Zheng, 2022).

Work-related issues affecting teachers' decisions to leave the teaching profession often occur within the first 5 years of teaching (Anama-Green, 2020; Doherty, 2020). To retain teachers, work-related issues should be resolved by school principals (Bartosiewicz et al., 2022; Froehlich et al., 2022; Ghanbari & Majooni, 2022). School leaders should strive to improve teachers' working conditions and use interventions to support and provide feedback to teachers (Carroll et al., 2022; Cheng, 2022; Jeon et al., 2022; Zheng, 2022). School leaders should support teachers when work-related demands are high (Kaiser & Thompson, 2021) by reducing job demands (Russell & Liggans, 2020). Clear school goals should also be set by principals for teaching and learning (Karacabey et al., 2020) to support teachers (Bezzina & Farrugia, 2022).

Evidence from this Research

I present my research-based findings on the topic of K-12 principals' perceptions regarding instructional leadership practices to support teachers who experience burnout. The participants of the study indicated that they often applied LPs to support teachers who experience burnout such as providing feedback on instructional practices. Feedback refers to the instructional dialogue between teachers and principals. Moreover, a principal should support teachers and prevent teacher depersonalization by providing feedback on a regular basis. Finally, principals need to understand teachers' well-being and influence teachers' job satisfaction by providing feedback as part of the effort to reduce teacher burnout.

The participants said that they can better retain teachers by resolving teachers' work-related issues. The participants specified that LPs should be applied to create a positive work environment for teachers because school principals may prevent teacher burnout by providing a positive work environment meaning the principal is not causing stress on teachers. When the principal is not creating a positive work environment, teachers' levels of stress increase, which is a factor of burnout. When a principal creates a positive work environment, the levels of teachers' emotional exhaustion are low.

The participants said that principals should clearly communicate the teaching curriculum expectations to teachers to prevent teacher burnout. When the principal's teaching curriculum expectations are clearly communicated to teachers, they do not cause stress on teachers. The teaching curriculum expectations is a factor of teacher burnout

causing stress on teachers resulting in low performance of teachers affecting other teachers within the school.

Recommendations for K-12 School Principals

The purpose of this position paper is to strengthen K–12 principals' involvement in identifying and supporting teachers who experience burnout in order to reduce the number of teachers leaving the teaching profession at the study sites. A presentation of the position paper will be presented to K–12 principals at the study sites. As the facilitator, I will explain that implementing the position paper may positively influence K–12 principals to support teachers who experience burnout to stay at the local schools. Senior school district administrators responsible for district-wide supporting principals will benefit from this the position paper by reviewing its content and supporting K–12 school principals in their effort to identify and support teachers who experience burnout.

The position paper provides the following recommendations to support K-12:

- School principals will provide instructional feedback to teachers who experience burnout on a regular basis to reduce teachers' stress.
- School principals will have conversations with teachers in order to identify teachers who experience burnout (Bezzina & Farrugia, 2022).
- School principals will have dialogue on instructional practices with teachers who experience burnout in order to reduce teachers' stress (Schaak, 2020; Shrestha & Bhattarai, 2022).

- School principals will provide adequate support via mentoring and professional development to teachers who experience burnout in order to keep them at the local schools.
- School principals will strive to understand and positively influence teachers' well-being (Farmer, 2020).
- School principals will positively influence teachers' job satisfaction (Meyer et al., 2022; Rachmawati & Suyanto, 2021).
- School principals will work directly with teachers having work-related issues because such issues cause stress on the teachers, and stress results in burnout (Hussain et al., 2021).
- School principals will assess teacher attrition by applying leadership practices to identify teachers who experience burnout (Gui, 2019).
- School principals will reduce the stress levels of teachers by creating a
 positive work environment (Daniels et al., 2020; Genc, 2020; Shrestha &
 Bhattari, 2022).
- School principals will prevent teacher burnout by finding preventative measures to decrease teacher burnout.
- School principals will strive to decrease teachers' emotional exhaustion levels in the work environment (Hunter & Springer, 2022; Hussain et al., 2021).
- School principals will clearly communicate the teaching curriculum expectations to teachers (Yu, 2018).

- School principals will recognize that teacher burnout affects the delivery of the teaching curriculum (Yu, 2018).
- School principals will recognize that unclear principals' teaching curriculum expectations to teachers result in low performance of teachers and affects other teachers within the school (Yu, 2018).
- School principals will have teacher-to-principal interactions when the principal's teaching curriculum expectations are unclear.

Conclusion

This position paper is based on research drawn from peer-reviewed professional journals. The position paper may assist K–12 school principals to better implement their LPs in order to support teachers who experience burnout and thus remain in the teaching profession. By implementing this position paper, K–12 school principals will become equipped with effective leadership instructional practices needed to effectively support teachers who experience burnout. School principals being able to effectively support teachers using effective instructional leadership practices will reduce teacher burnout, improve teacher effectiveness, improve culture and climate, improve morale, increase student academic achievement, retain teachers, decrease high school dropout rates, increase the number of students pursing post-secondary education, increase attendance, decrease discipline rate, and overall produce students in becoming productive citizens of their community.

Appendix A: References

- Bezzina, C., & Farrugia, M. A. (2022). A leadership typology for professional learning and development. *IUL Research*, *3*(5), 140-150. https://doi.org/10.57568/iulres.v3i5.273
- Daniels, E., Hondeghem, A., & Heystek, J. (2020). School leaders' and teachers' leadership perceptions: Differences and similarities. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 58(6), 645-660. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEA-11-2019-0199
- Farmer, D. (2020). Teacher attrition: The impacts of stress. *International Journal for Educators*, 87(1), 41-50. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1288312.pdf
- Genc, E. (2020). The effects of ethical leadership perceptions and personal characteristics on professional burnout levels of teachers. *Journal of Management*, 11(5), 70-80. https://doi.org/10.29141/2218-5003-2020-11-5-6
- Hunter, S. B., & Springer, M. G. (2022). Critical feedback characteristics, teacher human capital, and early-career teacher performance: A mixed-methods analysis.
 Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis,
 https://doi.org/10.3102/01623737211062913.
- Hussain, W., Nadeem, M. T., Kaynat, H., Shahzad, A., & Urooj, N. (2021). Correlation between organizational stress and workload stress effect the academic performance of elementary school teachers. *Ilkogretim Online*, 20(2), 1165-1170. https://doi.org/10.17051/IIkonline.2021.02.131
- Meyer, A., Richter, D., & Hartung-Beck, V. (2022). The relationship between principal leadership and teacher collaboration: Investigating the mediating effect of

- teachers' collective efficacy. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 50(4), 593-612. https://doi.org/10.1177/1741143220945698
- Rachmawati, Y., & Suyanto, S. (2021). The effect of principals' competencies on teachers' job satisfaction and work commitment. *Participatory Educational Research (PER)*,8(1), 362-378. https://doi.org/10.17275/per.21.21.8.1
- Schaak, D. D. (2020). When fulfillment is not enough: Early childhood teacher occupational burnout and turnover intentions from job demands and resource perspectives. *Early Education & Development*, 31(7), 1011-1030. https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2020.1791648
- Shrestha, M., & Bhattarai, P. C. (2022). Contribution of Job satisfaction to organizational citizenship behavior: A Survey of the school teachers of Nepal. *Journal of School Administration Research and Development*, 7(1), 36-49.

 https://doi.org/10.32674/jsard.v7i1.2165
- Yu, L. (2018). Solutions for new Chinese teachers' quitting. *Bu Journal of Graduate*Studies in Education, 10(1).

 https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=shib&db=eric&

 AN=EJ1230260&site=eds-live&scope=site.

Appendix B: Interview Protocol

Interview questions:

- 1. How do you apply leadership practices when managing the school?
- 2. How do you engage teachers in school functions?
- 3. How do you engage teachers in school activities?
- 4. How do you engage teachers in school procedures?
- 5. How do you engage teachers in practices of the school organization?
- 6. How do you interact with teachers?
- 7. How do you communicate with teachers?
- 8. How do you apply district policies regarding teacher burnout?
- 9. How do you apply district procedures regarding teacher burnout?
- 10. How do you support teachers who experience burnout?
- 11. How do you implement your leadership practices to set school instructional goals?
- 12. How do you implement your leadership practices to communicate school goals?
- 13. How do you implement your leadership practices to manage school instructional programs?

Appendix C: Reflective Survey

Survey Questions:

- 1. Based on the position paper, which of the leadership practices have you consistently implement?
- 2. Did the LPs reduce burnout among teachers?
- 3. Which LPs do you feel will be more beneficial for school leaders to implement in order to support teacher who experience burnout?
- 4. List the LPs you (school leader) feel that you would need support with in order to effectively support teachers who experience burnout?